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More Products,
More Choices,
More of What You




Our Mission:

Develop, manutfacture and distribute high

quality liquid, sterile and semi-solid generic

pharmaceuticals at the most economical cost

to the consumer.

Help people with diabetes live healthier

lives by providing pharmaceutical and

nutritional products especially formulated

to meet their needs.

To maintain the highest ethical standards

while providing increased revenues, profits

and shareholder value.




Dear Shareholders:

Hi-Tech received five approvals in the fiscal year, and expanded
our presence in pharmacies with the addition of several new over
the counter (OTC) products.
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iscal 2008 was filled with accomplishments, as we began

to see the rewards of our investment in research and de-

velopment, infrastructure and personnel. Hi-Tech received
five approvals in the fiscal year, and expanded our presence
in pharmacies with the addition of several new over the
counter {OTC) products. We also diversified cur product line
through the acquisition of Midlothian Laboratories. In addition,
in fiscal 2008 Hi-Tech Pharmacal set a path for continved
growth in the future, as we invested $6.2 million in research
and development, which is $1.5 million more than the previous
year, and represents 10% of our sales in fiscal 2008.

GENERIC PHARMACEUTICALS

Sales of generic products grew to $50.5 million. Our growth was
atributed to consistent sales of our core product line, revenue gen-
erated by our new product intfroductions, and additional sales
from our newly acquired division, Midlothian Laboratories. We
are very pleosed with the Abbreviated New Drug Application
(ANDA) approvals that Hi-Tech Pharmacal received in the fiscal
year. In April 2007, we received a fentative approval for ci-
clopirox 8% topical solution, the generic for Dermik Laboratories
antifungal nail lacquer Penlac®. Hi-Tech Pharmacal introduced
the generic version on September 18, 2007 on the first day of
generic availability, after the brand’s palent expired.

In January 2008, HiTech received approval for fluticasone pro-
pionate nasal spray, 50mcg, the generic alternative to Glaxo-
SmithKline's Flonase®. The approval of fluticasone was a very
significant achievement for the Company. Fluticasone is a proj-
ect that involved o difficult development process, which in-
cluded o sizeable patient clinical trial, and extensive
luboratory testing. Our ability to effectively execute in each of
these areas yielded to Hi-Tech only the third generic approval
in the market to date. The demand for Huticasone remains at
the same level as it was prior to generic competition, as over
20 million units were dispensed in the US in 2007. Since unit
sales remain very strong we believe the market provides a
good opportunity for sales growth over the long term.
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HiTech’s Fluticasone Propionate
nasal spray is only the third
ANDA, approve! to date.

HiTech's generic hydrocodone with
homotropine syrup is one of the few
hydrocodene liquid products with an
ANDA approval.
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Part of Hi-Tech's strategy for growth is to
selectively acquire assets, either products
or companies, which create o greater
morket presence for the Company, and
also generate a relatively quick return on
our investment.

In February 2008, Hi-Tech Pharmacal received approval for
hydrocodone bitartrate and homatropine methylbromide
syrup, the generic equivalent of Endo Pharmaceuticals’ Hyco-
dan®. We received the approval one month prior to the ruling
by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA} that required the
discontinuation of all unapproved products that contain hy-
drocodone. The regulatory oction by the FDA limited the num-
ber of products that can compete with the Hi-Tech generic in this
market. While we began shipping generic Hycodan® in fiscal
2008, we fully expect to gain significant share of the hydrocodone
market in fiscal 2009.

In March 2008, Hi-Tech launched ofloxacin ofic solution,
0.3%, the generic for Daiichi's Floxin®, which is indicated for the
treatment of bacterial infections of the ear. We introduced our
generic on the first day affer the expiration of the firstfiler's 180-
day exclusivity period. Part of Hi-Tech’s strategy is to develop
and market sterile products like ofloxacin ofic solution, which
require specialized development and manufacturing, resulting
in a generic market with a limited number of suppliers.

One of the highlights of the fiscal year occurred in April 2008,
when the FDA granted tentative approval to the Company for
dorzolamide HC| with timolol maleate ophthalmic solutian, the
generic for Merck’s Cosopt®, which had sales of $334 million
in 2007 according to the data service, IMS. Since the Com-
pany believes that it is the firstfiler with a Paragraph IV certi-
fication, Hi-Tech expects to be the beneficiary of 180 days of
marketing exclusivity, during which, no other generic approval

moy be launched. The tentative approval of HiTech’s dorzo-
lamide with timolol application represents the first time the
Company has been awarded marketing exclusivity. Our ap-
proach to filing a basket of both ANDAs that do not involve
patent chalflenges, as well as Paragraph IV applications, re-
sulls in @ diverse pipeline that produces o steady flow of new
approvals, and high-polential-return products like dorzolamide
with timolol. Hi-Tech intends to begin marketing the product
upon the completion of Merck’s pediatric exclusivity period in
October 2008. The Company has a partner for the product
who will share in the profits.

ACQUISITION OF MIDLOTHIAN LABORATORIES

Part of HiTech’s strategy for growth is to selectively acquire as-
sefs, either products or companies, which create a greater mar-
ket presence for the Company, and also generate a relatively
quick return on our investment. We believe that the acquisition of
Midlothian Laboratories satisfies both of these selection criteria.

On December 28, 2007, Hi-Tech purchased Midlothian Labo-
rataries, LLC for $5.0 million plus an additional $0.9 million
for inventory. The acquisition expands Hi-Tech’s product line,
broadens our dosage form offerings, brings us into new thera-
peutic categories, adds to the Company's growing pipeline of
products and brings experienced management. Midlothian's
product line includes mostly prescription nutritional supplements
including pre-natal vitamins and several cough and cold for-
mulations. Additicnally, the Company ccquired future ANDA
and non-ANDA products in development. In the first four months




R&D Focus

In Fiscal 2008, Hi-Tech’'s investment in research and de-
velopment increased to $6.2 million, from $4.7 million in
fiscal 2007.

os a division of Hi-Tech, Midlothian contributed $4.2 million in
net sales due to a solid performance of its core products, as

well as a significant contribution from new product launches.

We are excited about the prospects for growth in the Midloth-
ian division, and believe that the acquisition will be accretive
to earnings and cash flow positive in the first year.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Hi-Tech continues fo be fully committed to investing in new prod-
uct development. In fiscal 2008, Hi-Tech’s investment in re-
search and development increased to $6.2 million, from $4.7
million in fiscal 2007, as the Company increosed spending on
internal, as well as external development projects that greatly
enhance our product pipeline. While the Company remains fo-
cused on sterile products, oral solutions and suspensions, and
nasal sprays, we have invested in the development of solid ad-
ditional dosage forms and other projects that require product
development ond manufacturing experlise that are outside our
current capabilities. This unprecedented investment in product
development in fiscal 2008 reflects the Company’s dedication
to growing our generic product portfolio.

Hi-Tech’s pipeline currently includes 12 products pending with the
FDA, targeting branded sales of over $500 million. In addition,
the Company has 20 products in various stages of development,
with branded sales of over $2 billion, according to IMS.
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Zosinix® Neuropathy Cream utilizes
a proprietary formula, which
combines capsaicin with the lopical
anesthelic lidocaine.

Diabetic Tussin® was the #1 pharmacists’
recommended sugarfree cough formula

again this yeor.

The success of the DiabetiDarm® brand
hos made it possible 1o introduce line
extensions such as DiabetiDerm® Toenall
ond Fool Fungus Cream,

BRANDED OTC PRODUCTS

Health Care Products, ("HCP"}, the OTC branded division of Hi-
Tech Pharmacal generated nearly $11million in sales in fiscal
2008. This performance was achieved in a difficult environ-
ment including a slumping economy and weak demand for
cough and cold products. Our flagship product, Diabetic
Tussin® continues to sell well and remains pharmacists’ number
one recommended cough syrup for diabetic patients.
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Looking ahead to fiscal 2009 and beyond, we expect to reap
the rewards of our significant investment in research and
development on the generic side of our business,

We are particularly pleased with the growth of the Multi-betic®
brand, which is now the number one selling vitamin supple-
ment for diabelic patients, according the data service, IRI. The
Multi-betic® brand posted growth of approximately 50% in Fis-
cal 2007 1o take over the number one spot in the category, re-
inforcing HealthCare Products’ position as the leading OTC
branded company that is focused on "Helping People with Di-
abetes Live Healthier Lives.” HCP further extended its product
line with the introduction of two new products, DiabetiDerm®
Toenail and Foot Fungus Cream, and Zostrix® Neuropathy
Cream, both directed to assist diabetic potients with footrelated
complications. Both products were launched into the market lote
in the fiscal year, and thus far the reception has been very good
for both items. Zostrix® Neuropathy Cream utilizes an inicensed
patent protected formulation that combines the effective pain
relief of capsaicin along with the topical anesthetic lidocaine,
The Company has suppoerted the launch of Zostrix® Neuropo-
thy Cream with a strong marketing approach that includes a
professionat effort that is directed toward educating physicians
about the effectiveness of this unique combination product,
olong with an aggressive retailer support effort. We believe
that cur strong market presence and successful line of prod-
ucts serves as a solid platform for the introduction of additional
new products.

FUTURE GROWTH

Looking ahead to fiscal 2009 and beyond, we expect to reap
the rewards of our significant investment in research and de-
velopment on the generic side of our business. Our success in
obtaining significant approvals in fiscal 2008 validates the
Company’s approach to high-barrier development projects,
and gives us good reason to be confident that we will continue
to successfully execute on these projects.

We are also optimistic about the future of our branded OTC
business as we plan to launch several unique new producis in
fiscal 2009. Our success in growing our product line over the
past several years has created leverage for HCP to effectively
launch new preducts in a variety of therapeutic categories.
We continue to seek acquisitions and licensing opportunities
to expand our portfolio of OTC brands.

In closing | would like to acknowledge the efforts of our employ-
ees. They continue to be the Company’s most valuable resource.
Additionally, | also want to thank the Board of Directors for their
support and guidance. | also want fo express my appreciation to
our shareholders for their confidence in Hi-Tech Pharmacal.

Sincerely,

Gl L5

David Selizer
President and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and certain information incorporated herein by reference contains forward-looking statements
which are not historical facts made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Forward-looking statements are not promises or guarantees and investors are cautioned that all forward looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to the impact of competitive products and pricing, product demand and market
acceptance, new product development, the regulatory environment, including without limitation, reliance on key strategic alliances,
availability of raw materials, fluctuations in operating results and other risks detailed from time to time in the Company’s filings with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, These statements are based on management’s current expectations and are naturally subject
to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. We caution you not to place undue reliance upon any such forward-looking statements
which speak only as of the date made. Hi-Tech is under no obligation to, and expressly disclaims any such obligation to, update or
alter its forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

PART
ITEM1. BUSINESS.

General

Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc, (“Hi-Tech” or the “Company”, which may be referred to as “we”, “us” or “our”), a Delaware
corporation, incorporated in April 1982, is a specialty manufacturer and marketer of prescription, over-the-counter and nutritional
products.

We develop, manufacture and market products in two categories — generics and over the counter (OTC) brands. We produce a wide
range of products for various disease states, including asthma, bronchial disorders, dermatological disorders, allergies, pain, stomach,
oral care, neurological disorders and other conditions.

The Company’s generic products are primarily prescription items and include oral solutions and suspensions, topical creams and
ointments as well as nasal sprays. We also specialize in the manufacture of products in our state of the art sterile facility capable of
producing liquid ophthalmic, otic and inhalation products. Additionally, in December 2007, the Company purchased the assets of
Midlothian Laboratories, a generic pharmaceutical company specializing in cough and cold products and prescription vitamins, The
generic product category includes a small amount of contract manufacturing sales for both the prescription and OTC markets.

Our Health Care Products Division markets a line of OTC branded products primarjly for people with diabetes, mcludmg Diabetic
Tussin", DiabetiDerm’, Multi-betic”, DiabetiSweet”. The division also sells Zostrix” brand of capsaisin products for pain and arthritis.

Our customers include chain drug stores, drug wholesalers, managed care purchasing organizations, certain Federal government
agencies, generic distributors, mass merchandisers, and mail-order pharmacies. Some of our key customers include McKesson
Corporation, AmeriSourceBergen Corporation, Cardinal Health, Inc., CVS, Wal-Mart and Walgreens.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008 sales of generic pharmaceuticals including the Company’s Midlothian division represented
81% of total sales and sales of the Health Care Products line of OTC products accounted for 19% of total sales.

Generic Products
Our top 5 selling generic products in fiscal 2008 were:
+  Sulfamethoxazole & Trimethoprim (the generic equivalent of Bactrim® from Roche)

*  Promethazine products including Plain, Codeine and Dextromethorphan varieties (the generic equivalent of Phencrgan°
products from Wyeth)

+  Chlorhexadine Gluconate (the generic equivalent of Periogard” from Colgate and Peridex” from Zila)
*  Pediatric multivitamins (the generic equivalent of various brands)

*  Urea based products including creams, lotion, gels and nail sticks (the generic equivalent of Carmol 40° and Keralac™
from Nycomed and Vanamide™ from Dermik)

Generic Approvals and Product Launches

We have 37 prescription products approved for marketing by the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”} and 3 products with
tentative approvals. In addition, we have 12 products submitted to the FDA and pending approval, and approximately 20 products in
various stages of development.




We received tentative Abbreviated New Drug Application {“ANDA™) approval for the following product in fiscal 2008:
«  Dorzolamide Hydrochloride with Timolol Maleate Ophthalmic Solution (the generic equivalent of Merck’s Cosopt0
Ophthalmic solution, indicated for the treatment of glaucoma)
In our fiscal 2008, we launched four products upon receiving the FDA’s final approval for the Company’s ANDAs:

«  Ciclopirox topical solution, 8% (the generic equivalent of Dermik Laboratories’ Penlac” topical solution, indicated for the
treatment of nail fungus)

»  Fluticasone proprionate nasal spray, 50 mcg (the generic equivalent of GlaxoSmithKline’s Flonase®, indicated for the
management of the nasal symptoms of seasonal and perennial allergic and non-allergic rhinitis)

+  Hydrocodone Bitartrate and Homatropine Methylbromide Syrup (the generic equivalent of Endo Pharmaceuticals’
Hycodan0 , indicated for the symptomatic relief of cough)

«  Oflaxacin Otic solution, 0.3% (the generic equivalent of Datichi’s Floxin® otic solution, 0.3%, indicated for the treatment
of bacterial infections of the ear)

Health Care Products Division
Our Health Care Products Division (“HCP”) is a leading marketer of branded products that include over-the-counter, nutritional lines,
and prescription products, primarily for people with diabetes. HCP also has several lines that fall outside the diabetic area. The Health
Care Products Division is composed of several products lines which account for a majority of its sales.
The top five product lines, in order of sales, are:

Diabetic Tussin” cough products

«  Zostrix® pain relief products

+  Multibetic® multi-vitamins

+  DiabetiDerm® dermatological and footcare products

+  DiabetiSweet” sugar substitutes

The Diabetic Tussin" line accounted for approximately half of Health Care Products sales.

HCP launched the following products this year:
«  Diabetic Tussin® Mucous Relief Tablets and Liquid
" Diabetic Tussin® Cold and Flu Tablets
+  Diabetic Tussin” Allergy Tablets
+  DiabetiDerm” Antifungal Cream
+  Zostrix” Neuropathy Cream
+  Nasal Ease” Allergy and Flu Blockers

Growth Strategy

Management believes that growth in the generic pharmaceutical industry is driven by several factors which should continue in the
coming years. These factors include:

»  The increasing number of branded pharmaceutical products that have lost or will lose patent protection

»  Efforts by federal and state governments, employers, third-party payers and consumers to control health care costs

+  The aging of the U.S. population

«  Increased acceptance of generic products by physicians, pharmacists and consumers
Management hopes to exploit these macroeconomic trends by making strategic decisions which will result in the Company’s growth.
Our growth strategy is based on the following:

¢ Increase the number of new product introductions by expanding our research and development efforts and increasing our
ANDA submissions

» Increase market share for our core prescription generic products by adding new customers and introducing products to
existing customers -

*  Continue to develop and license branded products with a focus on niche markets, such as diabetes care and related areas,
such as podiatry



*  Acquire products and businesses that management believes can contribute to the Company’s growth strategy

»  Leverage our manufacturing capabilities primarily focusing on the development of liquid and semi-solid dosage forms and
products requiring sterile manufacturing

Product Development Strategy

We have identified over $9 billion of brand name drugs in the liquid, sterile, inhalation, nasal spray and semi-solid dosage forms in
our target market. These products ¢ither have patents which expire in the next five years or have patents which the Company believes
that it can successfully challenge. We are currently developing drugs with total branded sales of over $2 billion and plan to take
advantage of this opportunity,

Our product development strategy focuses on products in the following areas:
+  Products that will have limited competition due to smaller market size but can generate long term revenues
*  Products with significant volume and high annual sales

+  Products that are difficult to bring to market and more likely to face limited competition, enabling us to earn higher
margins for a longer period of time. These opportunities include nasal sprays and sterile products, including ophthalmics
and inhalation products

»  Products with patents that we believe we can successfully challenge through the patent challenge process of the Hatch-
Waxman Act

Research and Development

The Company obtains new generic pharmaceutical products primarily through internal product development and from strategic
arrangements with other pharmaceutical companies. These strategic arrangements include both development contracts where Hi-Tech
pays a third party to develop a new product and licensing arrangements where Hi-Tech sells a product and pays a royalty to the owner
of the ANDA or NDA.

For the fiscal years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 total R&D expenditures were $6,208,000, $4,733,000 and $3,334,000,
respectively. The increase is the result of expenditures on both internal and external development projects. The Company’s largest
expenditure on a single project was for a product line that is being jointly developed with two other generic drug companies. The
Company spent $1,591,000 and $409,000 in FY 2008 and FY 2007, respectively, on this project including expenditures on a clinical
trial, The c¢linical trial for this product is ongoing, and the Company believes that it will file ANDAs for the products in this product
line in late FY 2009 and in FY 2010.

We have 12 ANDA applications pending at the FDA that address over $0.5 billion in annual brand and generic product sales in the
United States in 2007 according to IMS Health. Additionally, the Company has approximately 20 products targeting over $2 billion in
branded revenue in development. The Company does not know when any of these products will be approved.

Customers and Marketing

We market our products to chain drug stores, drug wholesalers, managed care purchasing organizations, certain Federal government
agencies, generic distributors, mass merchandisers and mail order pharmacies. We sell our gencric products to over 100 active
accounts located throughout the United States. For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008, McKesson Corporation, AmerisourceBergen,
and Cardinal Health accounted for net sales of approximately 15%, 10%, and 10%, respectively. These customers represented
approximately 58% of the outstanding accounts receivable at April 30, 2008. Our top five customers accounted for approximately
49% and 47% of the Company’s total sales for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. If any of our top five
customers discontinues or substantially reduces its purchases from the Company, it may have a material adverse effect on our business
and financial condition. We believe, however, that we have good relationships with our customers.

We utilize our state of the art manufacturing facilities and laboratories to offer contract manufacturing services to our existing as well
as potential customers.

We market HCP brands using various marketing strategies which include professional and consumer sampling programs,
telemarketing, coupon promotions, contemporary packaging, print media, national radio, direct response advertising and in store
promotions. We also have placed a significant emphasis on the use of the internet as a vehicle to promote our brands and emphasize
our Company’s goal of helping people with diabetes live a healthier life. We view the internet as an effective vehicle to educate
people with diabetes about making good decisions in helping manage their condition. Our websites are registered under the domain
names of diabeticproducts.com, Nasaleaseblocker.com and Zostrix.com, which are linked to most search engines and diabetic based
websites.

Health Care Products currently employs 10 full time employees in sales, marketing and administration, and 12 independent
commission sales representative organizations.




We are focused on growth and will continue to develop new branded and generic products as well as devise new marketing strategies to
penetrate our markets. We are seeking to complement this internal effort by acquiring products for future marketing, as well as licensing
rights to proprietary products and technologies for development and commercialization. We will place increasing emphasis on establishing
co-development and co-marketing agreements with strategic partners.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing facilities are designed to be flexible in order to allow for the low cost production of a variety of products of different
dosages, sizes, packaging and quantities while maintaining a high level of quality and customer service. This flexible production capability
allows us to adjust on-line production in order to meet customer requirements.

Facilities

We operate from six buildings owned by the Company on one site in Amityville, New York, totaling approximately 197,000 square feet.
Additionally, the Company leases a 15,000 square foot facility which houses the Midlothian division acquired in December 2007.

Raw Materials/Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients

The active compounds for our products, also called active pharmaceutical ingredients or APIs, are purchased from specialized manufacturers
and are essential to our business and success. API manufacturers are required to file a Drug Master File with the FDA. Each individual API
must be approved by the FDA as part of the ANDA approval process. APl manufacturers are also regularly inspected by the FDA.

In some cases, the raw materials used to manufacture pharmaceutical products are only available from a single FDA-approved supplier. Even
when more than one supplier exists, the Company may elect to list, and in most cases has only listed, one supplier in its applications with the
FDA. Any change in a supplier not previously approved must then be submitted through a formal approval process with the FDA.

It is crucial for the business to select suppliers that meet Current Good Manufacturing Practices (*¢GMP”) requirements and that are reliable
and offer competitive prices. We are proactive in maintaining good relationships with our API suppliers because we believe that these
relationships allow us to save crucial time and be cost competitive. For new products in development, the timely selection of the right API
suppliers who have access to cutting-edge chemical and process technologies, and in some cases offer proprictary and patented methods for
chemical synthesis and manufacturing processes, can potentially give us a significant advantage over our competitors.

We believe we have good, cooperative working relationships with our suppliers and are not experiencing any difficulty in obtaining raw
materials. If a supplier were unable to supply us, we believe we could locate an alternative supplier. However, any change in suppliers of a
raw material could cause significant delays and cost increases in the manufacture of products, To mitigate this risk, the Company is currently
beginning the process of certifying alternative suppliers for several key APIs,

Competition

The market for generic pharmaceuticals is highly competitive. Our direct competition consists of numerous generic drug manufacturers,
many of which have greater financial and other resources than we do. If one or more other generic pharmaceutical manufacturers
significantly reduce their prices in an effort to gain market share, our profitability or market position could be adversely affected. Such
competitive pressures caused our decline in sales and profitability over the last two years. Competition is based principally on price, quality
of products, customer service levels, reputation and marketing support.

Seasonality

We experience seasonal variations in the demand for our cough and cold products. Therefore, no one quarter’s performance can be used to
indicate a full year results. Our revenues are typically lower during the first and fourth quarters of our fiscal year. We expect this seasonality
to continue in the future.

Government Reguiation
FDA Oversight

Our products and facilities are subject to regulation by a number of Federal and state governmental agencies. The FDA, in particular,
maintains oversight of our manufacturing process as well as the distribution of our products. Facilities, procedures, operations and/or testing
of products are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA, the Drug Enforcement Administration and other authorities. In addition, the FDA
conducts pre-approval and post-approval reviews and plant inspections to determine whether our systems and processes are in compliance
with cGMP and other FDA regulations. Certain of our suppliers are subject to similar regulations and periodic inspections. We have had
several FDA inspections including our most recent which took place in the third quarter of fiscal 2008. We believe the issues cited during the
inspection have been adequately addressed by the Company.

A sponsor of a New Drug Application ("NDA™) is required to identify in its application any patent that claims the drug or a use of the drug, which is
the subject of the application. Upon NDA approval, the FDA lists the approved drug product and these patents in the Orange Book.



In addition to patent exclusivity, the holder of the NDA for the listed drug may be entitled to a period of non-patent, market
exclusivity, during which the FDA cannot approve an application for a bioequivalent product. If the listed drug is a new chemical
entity, the FDA may not accept an ANDA for a bioequivalent product for up to five years following approval of the NDA for the new
chemical entity. If it is not a new chemical entity but the holder of the NDA conducted clinical trials essential to approval of the NDA
or a supplement thereto, the FDA may not approve an ANDA for a bioequivalent product before expiration of three years. Certain
other periods of exclusivity may be available if the listed drug is indicated for treatment of a rare disease or is studied for pediatric
indications.

The FDA has extensive enforcement powers, including the power to seize noncomplying products, to seek court action to prohibit
their sale and to seek criminal penalties for noncomplying manufacturers. Although it has no statutory power to force the recall of
products, the FDA usually accomplishes a recall as a result of the threat of judicially imposed seizure, injunction and/or criminal
penalties.

ANDA Process

Although many of the products we currently manufacture and market do not require prior specific approval of the FDA, certain
products which we currently market and intend to market under our product development program require prior FDA approval using
the ANDA procedure prior to being marketed. We currently have 37 approved products, 3 tentatively approved products, 12 products
pending FDA approval, and 20 products in active development, of which the majority will require ANDA submissions.

The ANDA approval process is generally less time-consuming and complex than the NDA approval process. It generally does not
require new preclincal and clinical studies because it relies on the studies establishing safety and efficacy conducted for the drug
previously approved through the NDA process. The ANDA process does, however, occasionally, require one or more bioequivalency
studies to show that the ANDA drug is bioequivalent to the previously approved drug. Bioequivalence compares the bioavailability of
one drug product with that of referenced brand formulation containing the same active ingredient. When established, bioequivalency
confirms that the rate of absorption and levels of concentration in the bloodstream of a formulation of the previously approved drug
and the generic drug are equivalent. Bioavailability indicates the rate and extent of absorption and levels of concentration of a drug
product in the bloodstream needed to produce the same therapeutic effect. Such studies are not generally required to be performed for
solutions {oral, ophthalmic, or solutions for inhalation). Suspensions and certain types of topical products do require bioequivalency
testing. Topical creams and ointments require clinical testing. Fluticasone propionate required a large and expensive clinical trial. In
certain cases, such as nasal spray suspensions, clinical studies are required in addition to bioequivalency studies to show efficacy
compared to the branded product. Such studies, though not as extensive as corresponding studies conducted by innovator companies
as part of their NDA process, could require substantial funding.

The completion of a prospective product’s formulation, testing and FDA approval generally takes several years. Development
activities could begin several years in advance of the patent expiration date, and may include bioequivalency and clinical studies.
Consequently, we are presently selecting and will continue to select and develop drugs we expect to market several years in the future.

The timing of final FDA approval of ANDA applications depends on a variety of factors, including whether the applicant challenges
any listed patents for the drug and/or its use and whether the brand-name manufacturer is entitted to one or more statutory exclusivity
periods, Pending the resolution of any such issues the FDA is prohibited from granting final approval to generic products. In certain
circumstances, a regulatory exclusivity period can extend beyond the life of a patent, and thus block ANDAs from being approved on
the patent expiration date. For example, the FDA may now extend the exclusivity of a product by six months past the date of patent
expiry if the manufacturer undertakes studies on the effect of their product in children (“pediatric extension™). See “Patent Challenge
Process.”

Before approving a product, the FDA also requires that a company’s procedures and operations conform to cGMP regulations, as
defined in the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations. The Company must follow the cGMP regulations at all times during the manufacture
of its products.

If the FDA concludes that all substantive ANDA requirements {chemistry, bioequivalency, labeling and manufacturing) have been i
satisfied, but a final ANDA approval cannot be granted because of patent or exclusivity-related considerations, the FDA may issue a
tentative approval.

Patent Challenge Process

The Hatch-Waxman Act provides incentives for generic pharmaceutical manufacturers to challenge patents on branded
pharmaceutical products, their methods of use and specific formulations, as well as to develop non-infringing forms of the patented
subject matter. The purpose of the Hatch-Waxman Act is to stimulate competition by providing incentives to generic companies to
introduce their products early, and at the same time to ensure that such suits are not frivolous.




If there is a patent listed in the FDA’s Orange Bock at the time of filing an ANDA with the FDA and the generic drug company
intends to market the generic equivalent prior to the expiration of that patent, the generic company files with its ANDA a certification
asserting that the patent is invalid, unenforceable and/or not infringed (“Paragraph IV certification”). Afier receiving notice from the
FDA that its application is acceptable for filing, the generic company sends the patent holder and the holder of the New Drug
Application (“NDA”) for the brand-name drug a notice explaining why it believes that the patents in question are invalid,
unenforceable or not infringed. Upon receipt of the notice from the generic company, the patent holder has 45 days during which to
bring a patent infringement suit in federal district court against the generic company. The discovery, trial and appeals process in such
suits can take several years and have high legal costs.

If a suit is commenced by the patent holder, the Hatch-Waxman Act provides for an automatic stay on the FDA’s ability to grant final
approval of the ANDA for the generic product. The period during which the FDA may not approve the ANDA and the patent
challenger therefore may not market the generic product is 30 months, or such shorter or longer period as may be ordered by the court.
The 30-month period may or may not, and often does not, coincide with the timing of the resolution of the lawsuit or the expiration of
a patent, but if the patent challenge is successful or the challenged patent expires during the 30-month period, the FDA may approve
the generic drug for marketing, assuming there are no other obstacles to approval such as exclusivities given to the NDA holder.

Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, the developer of a proposed generic drug which is the first to have its ANDA accepted for filing by the
FDA, and whose filing includes a Paragraph 1V certification, may be eligible to receive a 180-day period of generic market
exclusivity. This period of market exclusivity may provide the. patent challenger with the opportunity to earn a return on the risks
taken and its legal and development costs and to build its market share before competitors can enter the market.

Medicaid and Medicare

Medicaid, Medicare and other reimbursement legislation or programs govern reimbursement levels and require all pharmaceutical
manufacturers to rebate a percentage of their revenues arising from Medicaid-reimbursed drug sales to individual states. The required
rebate is currently 1 1% of the average manufacturer’s price for sales of Medicaid-reimbursed products marketed under ANDAs, We
believe that Federal or state governments may continue to enact measures aimed at reducing the cost of drugs to the pubtic. For
example, Congress passed the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modemization Act of 2003, which provides a
comprehensive pharmacy benefit for Medicare recipients.

DEA

Because the Company sells and develops products containing controlled substances, it must meet the requirements and regulations of
the Controlled Substances Act which are administered by the Drug Enforcement Agency (*DEA™). These regulations include stringent
requirements for manufacturing controls and security to prevent diversion of or unauthorized access to the drugs in each stage of the
production and distribution process. We have the approval of the DEA to sell certain generic pharmaceutical products containing
narcotics. We are currenily manufacturing 7 preparations containing narcotics and are developing other products that contain
narcotics. In order to manufacture and sell products containing narcotics, we have implemented stringent security precautions to insure
that the narcotics are accounted for and properly stored. We believe that the Company is currently in compliance with all applicable
DEA requirements.

Environment

We believe that our operations comply in all material respects with applicable laws and regulations conceming the environment,
While it is impossible to predict accurately the future costs associated with environmenta) compliance and potential remediation
activities, compliance with environmental laws is not expected to require significant capital expenditures and has not had, and is not
expected to have, a materia! adverse effect on our earnings or competitive position.

Product Liability

The sale of pharmaceutical products can expose the manufacturer of such products to product liability claims by consumers. A product
liability claim, if successful and in excess of our insurance coverage, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.
We maintain product liability insurance policies which provide coverage in the amount $10,000,000 per claim and in the aggregate,

Employees

As of April 30, 2008, we employed 258 full-time persons and 18 part-time persons, of whom 30 were engaged in executive, financial
and administrative capacities; 25 in marketing, sales and service; 121 full-time employees and 18 part-time employees in production,
warchousing and distribution; and 82 in research and development and quality control functions. We are not a party to a collective
bargaining agreement. The management of the Company considers its relations with its employees to be satisfactory.




Website Access to Filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission

Additional information about the Company is available on our website at www.hitechpharm.com. All of our electronic filings with the
SEC including Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments
to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, are available on our
website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with and furnished to the SEC. The SEC’s
internet site contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the
SEC. Our SEC filings are also available through the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may read and copy any material we
file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information
on the operation of the Public Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Information contained on our website is not incorporated
by reference in the Annual Report on Form 10-K and shall not be deemed “filed” under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

The following risk factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position or results of operations.
These risk factors may not include all of the important factors that could affect our business or our industry or that could cause our
future financial results to differ materially from historic or expected results or cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate
or decline.

Delays in New Product Introductions

Our future revenue growth and profitability are dependent upon our ability to develop and introduce new products on a timely basis in
relation to our competitors’ product introductions. Our failure to do so successfully could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position and results of operations.

Many products require FDA approval prior to being marketed. The process of obtaining FDA approval to manufacture and market
new and generic pharmaceutical products is rigorous, time-consuming, costly and largely unpredictable. We may be unable to obtain
requisite FDA approvals on a timely basis for new generic products that we may develop. The timing and cost of obtaining FDA
approvals could adversely affect our product introduction plans, financial position and results of operations.

The ANDA process often results in the FDA granting final approval to a number of ANDAs for a given product. We may face
immediate competition when we introduce a generic product into the market. These circumstances could result in significantly lower
prices, as well as reduced margins, for generic products compared to brand products. New generic market entrants generally cause
continued price and margin erosion over the generic product life cycle.

Approved Products May Net Achieve Expected Levels of Market Acceptance
Our approved products may not achieve expected levels of market acceptance, which could have a material adverse effect on our
profitability, financial position and results of operations. Even if we were able to obtain regulatory approvals of our new
pharmaceutical products, generic or brand, the success of those products is dependent upon market acceptance. Levels of market
acceptance for new products could be impacted by several factors, including:

+ the availability of alternative products from our competitors

» the price of our products relative to that of our competitors

= the availability of authorized generics

»  the timing of our market entry

»  the ability of our customers to market our products effectively to the retail level

+  the acceptance of our products by government and private formularies

Some of these factors are not within our control.

Unapproved Products

The Company sells several products which do not have ANDAs. These products either fall under the grandfathered or Drug Efficacy
Study Implementation (“DESI") classification. Grandfathered drugs are drugs that were on the market prior to the passage of the
Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938. It was not until the passage of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938 that a New Drug
Application (NDA) was required for marketing a drug product as the regulatory mechanism for insuring that all new drugs were
cleared for safety prior to distribution. The requirement for pre-clearance for effectiveness was added by the 1962 amendment.

Following enactment of the 1938 law, drugs on the market prior to that time were exempted or “grandfathered” and manufacturers
were not required to file an NDA. The premise was that all pre-1938 drugs were considered safe, and if the manufacturer did not
change the product formulation or indication, then an NDA was not required.




DESI drugs are drugs that were approved solely on the basis of their safety prior to 1962. Thereafter, Congress required drugs to be
shown to be effective as well. The FDA initiated the DESI program te evaluate the effectiveness of those drugs that had been
previously approved on safety grounds alone, These drugs, and those identical, related, and similar to them, may continue to be
marketed until the administrative proceedings evaluating their effectiveness have been concluded, at which point continued marketing
is only permitted if an NDA is approved for such drugs. The vast majority of the DESI proceedings have been concluded, but a few
are still pending.

Continuing studies of the proper utilization, safety and efficacy of pharmaceutical products are being conducted by the industry,
government agencies and others. Such studies, which increasingly employ sophisticated methods and techniques, can call into
question the utilization, safety and efficacy of currently marketed products. In some cases, these studies have resulted, and may in the
future result, in the discontinuance of product marketing. These situations, should they occur, could have a material adverse effect on
our profitability, financial position and results of operations.

Industry is Highly Competitive

We face competition from other pharmaceutical manufacturers that threatens the commercial acceptance and pricing of our products,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Our competitors may be able to develop products and processes competitive with or supetior to our own for many reasons, including
that they may have:

*  proprietary processes or delivery systems
+ larger research and development staffs

« larger sales and marketing staffs

»  larger production capabilities
+ more products

* more experience in developing new drugs and greater financial resources

Each of these factors and others could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Government Regulation

Because the pharmaceutical industry is heavily regulated, we face significant costs and uncertainties associated with our efforts to
comply with applicable regulations. Should we fail to comply, we could experience material adverse effects on our business, financial
position and results of operations.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to regulation by various Federal and state governmental authorities. For instance, we must
comply with FDA requirements with respect to the manufacture, labeling, sale, distribution, marketing, advertising, promotion and
development of pharmaceutical products. Failure to comply with FDA and other governmental regulations can result in fines,
disgorgement, unanticipated compliance expenditures, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production and/or
distribution, suspension of FDA’s review of ANDAs, enforcement actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Under certain
circumstances, the FDA also has the authority to revoke previously granted drug approvals, Although we have internal regulatory
compliance programs and policies and have had a favorable compliance history, there is no guarantee that we may not be deemed to
be deficient in some manner in the future. If we were deemed to be deficient in any significant way, it could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

In addition to the new drug approval process, the FDA also regulates the facilities and operaticnal procedures that we use to
manufacture our products. We must register our facilities with the FDA. All products manufactured in those facilities must be made in
a manner consistent with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“¢cGMP”). Compliance with cGMP regulations requires substantial
expenditures of time, money and effort in such areas as production and quality control to ensure full technical compliance. Failure to
comply with cGMP regulations could result in an enforcement action brought by the FDA, which periodically inspects our
manufacturing facilities for compliance, which could include withholding the approval of ANDAS or other product applications of a
facility if deficiencies are found at that facility. FDA approval to manufacture a drug is site-specific. If the FDA would cause our
manufacturing facilities to cease or limit production, our business could be adversely affected. Delay and cost in obtaining FDA
approval to manufacture at a different facility also could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results
of operations.

We are subject, as are generally all manufacturers, to various Federal, state and local laws of general applicability, such as laws
regulating working conditions, as well as environmental protection laws and regulations, including those governing the discharge of
materials into the environment. Although we have not incurred significant costs associated with complying with such environmental
provisions in the past, if changes to such environmental provisions are made in the future that require significant changes in our

10




operations or if we engage in the development and manufacturing of new products requiring new or different environmental controls,
we may be required to expend significant funds. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position
and results of operations.

Limited Number of Major Customers

Qur top 5 customers, based on sales, accounted for 49% of our total sales for fiscal 2008, Any significant reduction of business with
any of our top 5 customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Third Party Suppliers

Active pharmaceutical ingredients, packaging components, and other materials and supplies that we use in our pharmaceutical
manufacturing operations, as well as certain finished products, are generally available and purchased from many different foreign and
domestic suppliers. Additionally, we maintain sufficient raw materials inventory, and in certain cases where we have listed only one
supplier in our applications with the FDA, we have received FDA approval to use alternative suppliers should the need arise.
However, there is no guarantee that we will always have timely and sufficient access to a critical raw material or finished product. A
prolonged interruption in the supply of a single-sourced active ingredient or finished product could cause our financial position and
results of operations to be materially adversely affected.

Limited Number of Manufacturing Facilities

Our generic products and some of our branded products are produced at our two manufacturing facilities located at one site. A
significant disruption at these facilities, even on a short-term basis, could impair our ability to produce and ship products to the market
on a timely basis, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Consolidation of Customers

Significant amounts of our sales are made to a relatively small number of drug wholesalers, retail drug chains, managed care
purchasing organizations, mail order pharmacies and hospitals. These customers represent an essential part of the distribution chain of
generic pharmaceutical products. These customers have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, significant consolidation. This
consolidation may result int these groups gaining additional purchasing leverage and consequently increasing the product pricing
pressures facing our business, Additionally, the emergence of large buying groups representing independent retail pharmacies and the ‘
prevalence and influence of managed care organizations and similar institutions potentially enable those groups to attempt to extract \
price discounts on our products. The result of these developments may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial !
position and results of operations.

Indemnification Obligations

In the normal course of business, we periodically enter into employment, legal settlements, and other agreements which incorporate
indemnification provisions. We maintain insurance coverage which we believe will etfectively mitigate our obligations under these
indemnification provisions. However, should our obligation under an indemnification provision ¢xceed our coverage or should
coverage be denied, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Uncertainties of Estimates and Assumptions

There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Any changes in estimates,
judgments and assumptions used could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

The financial statements included in the periodic reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) are prepared
in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP involves making estimates of expenses
and income. This includes, but is not limited to, estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the adoption of the provisions of SFAS
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets and SFAS No. 123, revised 2004, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation. Estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently subject to change in the future, and any such changes
could result in corresponding changes to the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Any such changes could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
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ITEM 2, PROPERTIES.

Our executive offices and manufacturing facilities are owned by the Company and are located in Amityville, New York, comprise six
buildings with approximately 197,000 square feet. These include:

+ A 42,000 square foot facility dedicated to liquid and semi-solid production

* A 28,000 square foot facility housing a sterile manufacturing facility, DEA manufacturing, chemistry and Imcroblology
laboratories

= A 062,500 square foot facility used for the warehousing of finished goods which also houses our Health Care Products
Division

* A 21,500 square foot facility with 3,500 square feet of research and development space and 18,000 square feet of
warehouse space

«  An 8,000 square foot office building which is utilized for administrative functions

» A 35,000 square foot facility acquired in April 2006 with mixed office, laboratory and manufacturing space which was
partially renovated in FY2007

Additionally, the Company leases a 15,000 square foot facility located in Montgomery, Alabama which houses our Midlothian
division. The lease on this facility expires in February 2009 and is renewable.

We believe that our properties are adequately covered by insurance and are suitable and adequate for our needs for several years.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The disclosure under Note M, Commitments, Contingencies and Other Matters, Legal Proceedings included in Part II Item 8 of this
report is incorporated in this Part I Item 3 by reference.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended April 30, 2008.
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.
Market Information
The Company’s commeon stock is traded on the National Global Market System of the National Association of Securities Dealers
Automated Quotation System (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol HITK.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices per share of the Company’s commen stock for the periods
indicated on the NASDAQ National Global Market System. The quotations are inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down
or commissions paid, and may not necessarily reflect actual transactions.

Quarter Ended High Low
Fiscal 2007
JULY 31, Z00B....oceeireerereesrerersessessmsistarmrsarssessissassrarasssssesmrssesesssessessseressressestessarsessesssssesrssssesressres: 24.63 15.71
OCLODEE 31, 2006 .oviveveerrreeerrsesemrtismssrsraisrassrsaseraassisermersesssssesiessesssssessssrerssassessessssseesssssssressres: 18.81 12.10
January 31, 2007 ... 15.52 10.78
APTL 30, 2007 ..ot ceteserreereseseeerreeess s st b e bbb ebea e e shnasesbeabbans 13.41 10.19
Fiscal 2008
JULY B, 2007 ettt ettt e et e e he et e e e £ e s et et eae e s et e beanaeeeanenseareneens 13.36 9.62
LT 1 a0 R L 11.95 9.90
JanUAry 31, 2008 ... ...t riast et b et be et b e e e r e E e s e s e e e ane e E e e s ae e e 12.40 8.72
APTIL30, 2008 et et e e e et e b e e e n et s e s e et e neeneans 12.38 8.60

As of July 10, 2008 the closing price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Global Market System was $ 10.39.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The table below sets forth, as of the end of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008, for the Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Employee Stock
Option Plan and Director Stock Option Plan (“Plan”) the number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options,
warrants and rights; the weighted-average exercise price of the outstanding options warrants and rights; and the number of securities
remaining for future issuance under the Plan:

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
Number of securities to Weighted-average compensation plans
be issued upon exercise of exercise price of {excluding securities
outstanding options, outstanding options, reflected in column
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights (a))
(@) (b) (c}
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders ............. 2,770,000 3 11.06 755,000
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders........ — — —
TORAL...cee e e 2,770,000 % 11.06 755,000

There are no Company equity compensation plans not approved by the Company’s stockholders.

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES, USE OF PROCEEDS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Recent Sales of Unregistered Shares

Approximate
* Dollar Value
of Shares
that May Yet
Be
Total Number of Shares Purchased
Total Number of Average Price Purchased as Part of Publicly Under the
Period Shares Purchased per Share Announced Plans Plans (1)
02/01/08 = 02728108 ... 05 0.00 0 $ 1,993,000
03/01/08 —03/31/08 ...t 39,000 $ B.92 39,000 $§ 1,649,000
04/01/08 — 04/30/08 ..o, 0% 0.00 0 % 1,649,000

(1)  During the three months ended April 30, 2008 the Company repurchased approximately 39,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock for a purchase price of $344,000. The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized $23,000,000 to repurchase
the Company’s common stock. Pursuant to the terms of a Rule 10b5-1 stock repurchase plan, these repurchases may be made
from time to time in the open market or in private transactions as market conditions dictate. As of April 30, 2008 the Company
has purchased 2,202,000 shares for $21,351,000.

Common Stock Holders

The Company believes there are approximately 3,800 holders of Common Stock, not including shares held in street name by brokers
and nominees as of July 10, 2008.

Dividends

The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends, and it does not anticipate that it will pay cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. The declaration of dividends by the Company in the future is subject to the sole discretion of the Company’s Board
of Directors and will depend upon the operating results, capital requirements and financial position of the Company, general economic
conditions and other pertinent conditions or restrictions relating to any financing. The Company’s loan agreement prohibits the
payment of cash dividends by the Company.

Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposed of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”) or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference
into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or the Exchange Act.

13




The following graph compares, for the five year period ended April 30, 2008, the cumulative total stockholder return for our common
stock, the Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S. companies) Index (the “Nasdaq Composite”™) and the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Index (the
“Nasdaq Pharmaceutical”). The graph assumes that $100 was invested on May 1, 2003 in the common stock of the Company, and in
the Nasdaq Composite and the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical and assumes reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on
the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
Among Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., inc., Tho NASDAQ Compesiio Indox
And The NASDAQ Pharmzceutica! Indox

—=3— HI-Tach Phammacat Co., Inc. = 4= NASDAQ Composite - - O - - NASDAQ Pharmaceutical

* $100 inrvessed oo 4730203 bn shock or bxdaxdnchaing retmvestment of dividends,
Fiscal yeor onding Apel 30,
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data presented below for the five years ended April 30, 2008 are derived from the audited financial statements
of the Company. This data is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the Company’s financial statements and related notes
thereto for the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Statement of operations data
Net 52l8S...cccieiiei et $ 62,017,000 58,808,000 $ 78,020,000 §$ 67,683,000 $ 56,366,000
Costs and exXpenses: .......coooveeeeeereeeere e
Costs of goods sold........vvvvrcrirvinrivene. 40,505,000 35,704,000 35,833,000 31,360,000 26,207,600
Research and development..........ocoeveueeeeeees 6,208,000 4,733,000 3,334,000 4,373,000 3,820,000
Selling, general and administrative .............. 22,625,000 23,914,000 23,210,000 19,574,000 16,758,000
Contract research (income)..............coovvievenes _ {123,000) (27,000) (50,000) (504,000)
Interest eXpense ..........ccviviieeinricieseineeereres 27,000 18,000 12,000 24,000 24,000
Interest (income) and other..............c......ceeee. (480,000) (1,314,000) (1,937,000) (655,000) (281,000)
Total......ccerrccenern e 3 08,885,000 62,932,000 $ 60,425,000 § 54,626,000 $ 46,024,000
Income (loss) before (benefit) provision for
INCOME TAXES ....veueeieeeeerereeenenenrne e vereresesene (6,868,000) (4,034,000} 17,595,000 13,057,000 10,342,000
(Benefit) provision for income taxes ........ceeeeeeee. (1,770,000) (1,998,000) 6,142,000 4,769,000 3,750,000
Net income (1085} ......o.covvrevenccvcnicccccciscncneneeeee (3,098,000) (2,036,000) $ 11,453,000 $ 8,288,000 3% 6,592,000
Basic earnings (loss) per share...........cccoeeeeeiiene, 3 (045) % 017) § 096 $ 070 $ 0.56
Diluted earnings (loss} per share............ccoveneaeennn. 5 (045) 3 (0.17) $ 085 $ 0.64 § 0.50
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic earnings (loss) per share.........c.c.cooeeveeviieeeee 11,353,000 11,884,000 11,939,000 11,858,000 11,809,000
Effect of potential common shares..........coovvvenne — — 1,465,000 1,130,000 1,478,000
Diluted earnings (loss) per share.........cocevvveriecenns 11,353,000 11,884,000 13,404,000 12,988,000 13,287,000
APRIL 30, 2008 2007 2006 2008 2004
Balance sheet data; ‘
Working capital..........ccoovviiiiiieneneeiisiienseeens $ 45875000 $ 55,540,000 $ 65234000 § 54,021,000 §$ 55,772,000
TOtAl ASSRLS...cceovvreieiriers it st $ 85,012,000 $ 97,742,000 § 100,379,000 3% 81,612,000 3% 75,552,000
Long-term debt .......ccoooiiicr e 0 0 0 0 0
Stockholders” equity .......coovcccvcvcvcnccrrrnnnnn. § 75,165,000 § 82985000 § 88,442,000 $ 69,665,000 § 66,788,000
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

GENERAL

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and Notes thereto appearing
elsewhere in this Report.

The following table sets forth, for all periods indicated, the percentage relationship that items in the Company’s Statements of
Operations bear to net sales.

YEAR ENDED APRIL 30,
2008 2007 2006
INEE SAIES.....uouieiicietetei st re s re e s e mt sttt s sassesene e st st st st eesassas e r s r e s bt 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
08t OF SIS e b e e 65.3% 60.6% 45.9%
GTOSS PIOLIE..ovevecccccecc s s e s e 34.7% 39.4% 54.1%
Selling, general & adminiStrative EXPeNSe ........covrereccicicicic i 36.5% 40.6% 29.7%
Research & development COSES. ..o s 10.0% 8.0% 4.3%
Contract research (INCOME) ....vvuereccoeercece ettt 0.0% -0.2% 0.0%
IOEEIESE EXPEIISE ....oeevnereeennceeseennesesesesesesaseserere e ssse e e e ae s e e bbb bbb e R s e ne e e 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Interest (income) and OthET...........cvririiniriisirr et -0.8% -2.2% -2.5%
TOLAl EXPENSES ..euvererireererraneremccomen e e ieiese st s bbbt et s bbb abssesa e s s e s n b b e b e b s e sa s R e T T 45.7% 46.2% 31.5%
Income (1055) befOre 1aX PIOVISION ......ccceieinieirirer et ss bbb a0 -11.0% -6.8% 22.6%
Income (benefit) taX PrOVISION .....coveverrinecres e s s raems e s emeeee, 2.8% 3.4% 7.9%
INEL INCOME (10SE)-...verererereerireiereeesssieeresvsreareseeresesnesasssecasemencseesseemnmme st ststsababebans st saens -8.2% -3.4% 14.7%
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2008 AND 2007
Revenue
2008 2007 Change % Change
Hi-Tech GENeTiCS ..vouvreremrmrecrcicsiiersrsrsrasisnsesssmsmsssnsesans $ 46,256,000 $ 46,361,000 §  (105,000) 0%
Health Care Products...........covevviveeceesceeee et 10,846,000 10,845,000 1,000 0%
MIIOthIAN ..ovvveveveecccrcee e 4,216,000 — 4,216,000 N/A
NAPLELANT......oiviernree ettt eeer et b s 699,000 1,692,000 (993,000) -59%
TOtAl i ress s sssresesenenmnsneneneeeene 3 02,017,000 $ 58,898,000 $ 3,119,000 5%

Net sales of Hi-Tech generic pharmaceutical products, which includes some private label contract manufacturing, decreased due to
continued pricing pressure on many of the Company’s core products offset by new product launches including Ciclopirox topical
solution, 8%, Fluticasone proprionate nasal spray, 50 meg, Hydrocodone Bitartrate and Homatropine Methylbromide Syrup and
Oflaxacin Otic solution, 0.3%. These increases were partiaily offsct by decreases in sales of cough and flu products as well as urea
based products.

The Health Care Products division, which markets the Company’s branded products, had lower sales of Diabetic Tussin” due o the
dlscontmuanon of Children’s Diabetic Tussin® at certam retail chains. These decreases were offset by increases in sales of Multibetic
and Zostrix", including the newly launched Zostrix® Neuropathy product.

In December 2007, Hi-Tech acquired the assets of Midlothian Laboratories, a company which markets and dlstrlbutes generic
products in the cough and cold and prescription vitamin markets. In April 2007, Hi-Tech divested Naprelan Sales of Naprelan in the
current year represent inventory sold as part of the divestiture.

Cost of Sales

2008 2007
5 % of sales 3 % of sales

Cost 0f Sales.....ccoii 40,505,000 65% 35,704,000 61%
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The increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales is due to decreased unit sales of higher margin branded products, increased
unit sales of lower margin products, increased raw material prices and pricing pressure which lowered margins on several generic
products. Additionally, raw material and component prices have increased due to the price of oil increasing the costs for plastic
bottles, increases in the price of corn and other sweeteners, and the decline of the U.S. dollar which is driving price increases from
certain foreign raw material suppliers. These trends were partially offset by the acquisition of Midlothian Laboratories, since, on
average, this division has higher gross margins than Hi-Tech’s core generic business.

Expense Items

Selling, general and administrative expense.............
Research and product development costs.................
Contract research (inCome) .........ccooeeeeeeerivvevrvrenrennnne
Interest expense... SO
Interest (income) and othcr
Provision for income tax (benefit)/expense ..............

& OB

2008 2007 Change % Change
$ 22,625,000 § 23914000 § (1,289,000) -5%
$ 6,208,000 3% 4,733,000 § 1,475,000 31%
— (123,000) §  (123,000) N/A
27000 % 18,000 §$ 9,000 50%
(480,000) $  (1,314,000) $ (834,000 63%
$  (1,770,000) $  (1,998,000) $  (228,000) -11%

Decreases in selling, general and administrative expenses are related to lower legal fees and cost reduction efforts by management.

The increase in expenditures for research and development were driven by increased expenditures on externally developed projects.
The Company’s largest expenditure on a single project was for a product line that is being jointly developing with two other generic
drug companies. The Company spent $1,591,000 and $409,000 in fiscal year 2008 and fiscal year 2007, respectively, on this project
including expenditures on a clinical trial. The clinical trial for this product is ongoing, and the Company believes that it will file
ANDAs for these products in late fiscal year 2009 and fiscal year 2010.

The Company did not have any projects that resulted in contract research income in 2008.

Interest income decreased in 2008, because the Company had lower average cash and investment balances. Also, included in other
(income) expense is the other than temporary write down in the value of adjustable rate securities of $500,000.

Income Analysis

Net Income (LOSS).....covcviiinieiiniiiiiisenieeeee e,
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share ..............ccoeeeeeeas
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share .........ccocoivveveennne,

Weighted Average Common Shares Qutstanding,

BasiC ..o itk erae e eananens

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding,

DS . cerrveeerneremsssesssssssssssssssssins

2008 2007 Change % Change
$ (5098,000) § (2,036,0000 § (3,062,000) 150%
$ 045 % 017 8 (0.28) 165%
$ (0.45) $ .17 $ (0.28) 165%
11,353,000 11,884,000 (531,000) 4%
11,353,000 11,884,000 (531,000) -4%

The reduced share count in 2008 reflects the Company’s activity in repurchasing shares, which was partially offset by option

exercises.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2007 AND 2006

Revenue

Midlothian ...
Naprelan®...........cim e eees

2007 2006 Change % Change
46,361,000 § 65471,000 § (19,110,000) -29%
10,845,000 9,767,000 1,078,000 11%

— — — N/A

1,692,000 2,782,000 (1,090,000) -39%

58,808,000 $ 78,020,000 $ (19,122,000) -25%

The decrease of Hi-Tech generic sales is primarily due to pricing declines on our existing product line and a decrease in unit volume
due to a weaker than normal cold and flu season in the spring and fall of 2006. The Company’s leading generic product for the fiscal
year ended April 30, 2007, Sulfamethoxazole with Trimethoprim, faced two new competitors resulting in lower sales volumes and

lower prices.
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The Health Care Products division increased sales pglmanly as the result of increased sales of the Zostnx line of products, acquired in
July of 2005, and increased sales of Diabetic Tussin due to product line extensions. Diabetic Tussin” accounted for net sales of
approximately $6,000,000 for the twelve months ended April 30, 2007 and $5,200,000 for the twelve menths ended April 30, 2006.

The Company divested the Naprelan® brand on April 30, 2007. A portion of 2007 sales were to the purchaser at cost.
Cost of Sales

2007 2006
b % of sales - % of sales

Cost of Sales ..., 35,704,000 61% 35,833,000 46%

This increase in cost of sales as a percentage of sales was due to price reductions on higher margin products and the implementation of
FAS 123(R) which resulted in $584,000 of cost related to the expensing of stock options. Additionally, as part of the sale of the
Naprelan™ brand, some Naprelan product sales to the purchaser were at cost, increasing the cost of sales percentage of the Company.

Expense Items
2007 2006 Change % Change
Selling, general and administrative expense............. $ 23914000 § 23210000 §$ 704,000 3%
Research and product development costs................. $ 4,733,000 $ 3,334,000 §$ 1,399,000 42%
Contract research (income) ........cocovvvvvccecricceniveerees 9 (123,000) § (27,000) § (96,000) 356%
TOETESE EXPENSE «....ooeeer et sersssbeses e srsssnssssons 3 18,000 § 12,000 § 6,000 50%
Interest (income) and other........c.occoemininiinins $  (1,314,000) $ (1,937,000) § 623,000 -32%
Provision for income tax (benefit)/expense.............. $  (1,998,000) $ 6,142,000 $§ (8,140,000) -133%

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased due to increased stock-based compensation related to stock options of
$2,027,000 and increases in amortization expense offset by decreased legal fees and selling expenses.

Research and product development costs for fiscal 2007 increased primarily due to external development spending, increased salary
expense and expense related to stock options of $219,000.

The Company incurred a one time expense of $1,800,000 in fiscal 2007 as it sett]ecl a lawsuit with MedPointe Pharmaceuticals.
Addltxonally, the Company realized a $1,848,000 gain on the sale of the Naprelan® brand. These items are included on the income
statement in interest (income) and other.

The Company incurred a $2,830,000 expense, net of tax benefit, due to the implementation of FAS 123(R) in the year ended April 30,
2007.

2007 2006 Change % Change
Net Income (LoSS).......coormrereremirenieseencseenenenses $  (2,036,000) $ 11,453,000 § (13,489,000) -118%
Basic Eamings (Loss) Per Share ..o $ 017 § 096 3% (1.13) -118%
Diluted Eamings (Loss) Per Share ... 3 0.17) $ 085 % (1.02) -120%
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding,

BASIC oot 11,884,000 11,939,000 (55,000) 0%
Effect of Potential Common Shares ....................... — 1,465,000 (1,465,000) -100%
Weighted Average Common Shares Qutstanding,

DAluted ... 11,884,000 13,404,000 (1,520,000) -11%

The Company’s loss of $.17 per basic and fully diluted share for the year ended April 30, 2007 includes approximately §.15 per share
of costs relating to the expensing of stock options for the peried ending April 30, 2007. Expense related to stock options was not
included in prior periods.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company’s operations are historically financed principally by cash flow from operations. At April 30, 2008 and April 30, 2007,
working capital was approximately $45,875,000 and $55,540,000, respectively. The decrease of $9,665,000 was primarily due to cash
used to fund the current year loss, the purchase of treasury stock and capital expenditures.

Cash flows used in operating activities were approximately $9,448,000, which was primarily the result of a net loss and an increase in
accounts receivable offset by depreciation and amortization of $2,923,000, stock based compensation expense of $3,151,000, and
increases and decreases in other operating assets and liabilities.
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Cash flows provided by investing activities were approximately $13,036,000 and were principally proceeds from the sale of
marketable securities offset by investments in fixed assets and the purchase of the assets of Midlothian Laboratories, LLC. Cash flows

used in financing activities were $1,064,000 which was primarily due to purchases of treasury stock offset by the net proceeds of the
exercise of stock options.

In May 2006, the Company amended the revolving credit facility and increased the borrowing limit to $10,000,000. Under the
agreement the revolving credit facility bears interest at a rate elected by the Company equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR plus 0.75%.
Loans are collateralized by inventory, accounts receivable and other assets. The agreement contains covenants with respect to working
capital, net worth and certain ratios, as well as other covenants and prohibits the payment of cash dividends. In April 2008, the
Company amended the revolving credit facility and the lender waived the Company’s non-compliance with certain covenants. The
Company’s ability to borrow is limited by the amendment until the Company returns to profitability. No borrowings have been made
through April 30, 2008 under the credit facility.

The Company believes that its financial resources consisting of current working capital, anticipated future operating revenue and its
credit kine will be sufficient to enable it to meet its working capital requirements for at least the next twelve months.

In May 1997, the Company announced a stock buy-back program under which the Board of Directors autherized the purchase of up to
$1,000,000 of its common stock. In November 2003, the Company increased the stock buy-back program to an aggregate of
$3,000,000. The Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $10,000,000 of the Company’s
common stock in August 2004 and again in September 2006. As of April 30, 2008, the Company had the ability to purchase up to
$23,000,000 under the stock buy-back program. As of April 30, 2008, the Company has purchased 2,202,000 shares at a cost of
$21,351,000. In the fiscal year ended 2008 the Company purchased 205,000 shares for $1,961,000.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2008, FASB issued Statement 163, “Accounting for Financial Guarantee Insurance Contracts”. This new standard clarifics
how FAS Statement No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises, applies to financial guarantee insurance contracts
issued by insurance enterprises, including the recognition and measurement of premium revenue and claim liabilities. It also requires
expanded disclosures about financial guarantee insurance contracts. The Statement is effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 163 to have any impact on its
financial position or results of operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Due to the use
and complexity of derivative instruments, there were concerns regarding the existing disclosure requirements in FASB 133.
Accordingly, this Statement requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s derivative and hedging activities, Entities will be required
to provide enhanced disclosures about (i) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, (ii) how derivative instruments and
related hedging items are accounted for under Statement 133 and its related interpretations, and (jii) how derivative instruments and
related hedging items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. This Statement is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years after November 15, 2008. No impact is expected for the Company as it does not hold any
financial instruments for which FAS 133 is applicable.

On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” which replaces SFAS 141 but
retains the fundamental concept of purchase method of accounting in a business combination and improves reporting by creating
greater consistency in the accounting and financial reporting of business combinations, resulting in more complete, comparable, and
relevant information for investors and other users of financial statements. To achieve this goal, the new standard requires the acquiring |
entity in a business combination to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction and any noncontrolling \
interest at the acquisition date measured at their fair value as of that date. This statement requires measuring a noncontrolling interest |
in the acquiree at fair value which will result in recognizing the goodwill attributable to the noncontrolling interest in addition to that
attributable to the acquirer, This statement also requires the recognition of assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from
contractual contingencies as of the acquisition date, measured at their acquisition fair values. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 141(R) on its financial |
position and results of operations. ‘
\

On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements” an
amendment of ARB No. 51, which will affect only those entities that have an outstanding noncontrolling interest in one or more
subsidiaries or that deconsolidate a subsidiary by requiring all entities to report noncontrolling (minority) interests in subsidiaries in
the same way as equity in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, SFAS No. 160 eliminates the diversity that currently
exists in accounting for transactions between an entity and noncontrolling interests by requiring they be treated as equity transactions.
SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
SFAS No. 160 on its financial position and results of operations.
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In December 2007, the EITF issued EITF Issue No. 07-1 (“EITF 07-1"), Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements. EITF 07-1
affects entities that participate in collaborative arrangements for the development and commercialization of intellectual property. The
EITF affirmed the tentative conclusions reached on (1) what constitutes a collaborative arrangement, (2) how the parties should
present costs and revenues in their respective income statements, (3) how the parties should present cost-sharing payments, profit-
sharing payments, or both in their respective income statements, and (4) disclosure in the annual financial statements of the partners.
EITF 07-1 should be applied as a change in accounting principle through retrospective application to all periods presented for
collaborative arrangements existing as of the date of adoption. EITF 07-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2007.

In June 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force on Issue No. 07-3, Accounting for Advance
Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in Future Research and Development Activities (“Issue 07-3"), which is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007 and is applied prospectively for new contracts entered into on or after the effective
date. Issue 07-3 addresses nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services for use in future research and development
activities. Issue 07-3 will require that these payments that will be used or rendered for future research and development activities be
deferred and capitalized and recognized as an expense as the related goods are delivered or the related services are performed. If an
entity does not expect the goods to be delivered or the services to be rendered the capitalized advance payments should be expensed.
The Company is assessing the effects of the adoption of Issue 07-03 on its financial position and results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 (“SFAS 159”), “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities,” providing companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The Standard’s
objective is to reduce both complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the volatility in earnings caused by measuring
related assets and liabilities differently. Generally accepted accounting principles have required different measurement attributes for
different assets and liabilities that can create artificial volatility in earnings. SFAS 159 helps to mitigate this type of accounting-
induced volatility by enabling companies to report related assets and liabilities at fair value, which would likely reduce the need for
companies to comply with detailed rules for hedge accounting, SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements
designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and
liabilities. The Standard requires companies to provide additional information that will help investors and other users of financial
statements to more easily understand the effect of the company’s choice to use fair value on its earnings. It also requires entities to
display the fair value of those assets and liabilities for which they have chosen to use fair value on the face of the baiance sheet.
SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No.
159 to have a significant effect on its financial position or results of operations.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair
Value Measurements”, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Where applicable, SFAS No. 157 simplifies and codifies
related guidance within GAAP and does not require any new fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlier adoption is
encouraged. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a significant effect on its financial position or
results of operation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, we are
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses for the reporting period covered thereby. Asa
result, these estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. We base our estimates and judgments on our historical
experience, the terms of existing contracts, our observance of trends in the industry, information that we obtain from our customers
and outside sources, and on various assumptions that we believe to be reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances, the resulis
of which form the basis for making judgments which impact our reported operating results and the carrying values of assets and
liabilities. These assumptions include but are not limited to the percentage of new products which may have chargebacks and the
percentage of items which will be subject to price decreases. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Our significant
accounting policies are more fully described in Note A to our financial statements.

Revenue recognition and accounts receivable, adjustments for returns and price adjustments, allowance for doubtful accounts and
carrying value of inventory represent significant estimates made by management.
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Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable: Revenue is recognized for product sales upon shipment and when risk is passed to the
customer and when estimates of discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other
potential adjustments are reasonably determinable, collection is reasonably assured and the Company has no further performance
obligations. These estimates are presented in the financial statements as reductions to net revenues and accounts receivable. Estimated
sales returns, allowances and discounts are provided for in determining net sales. Contract research income is recognized as work is
completed and billable costs are incurred. In certain cases, contract research income is based on attainment of designated milestones.

Adjustments for Returns and Price Adjustments: Qur product revenues are typically subject to agreements with customers allowing
chargebacks, rebates, rights of return, pricing adjustments and other allowances. Based on our agreements and contracts with our
customers, we calculate adjustments for these items when we recognize revenue and we book the adjustments against accounts
receivable and revenue. Chargebacks, primarily from wholesalers, are the most significant of these items. Chargebacks result from
arrangements we have with end users establishing prices for products for which the end user independently selects a wholesaler from
which to purchase. A chargeback represents the difference between our invoice price to the wholesaler, which is typically stated at
wholesale acquisition cost, and the end customer’s contract price, which is lower. We credit the wholesaler for purchases by end
customers at the lower price. Therefore, we record these chargebacks at the time we recognize revenue in connection with our sales to
wholesalers.

The reserve for chargebacks is computed in the following manner. The Company obtains wholesaler inventory data for the
wholesalers which represent approximately 95% of our chargeback activity. This inventory is multiplied by the historical percentage
of units that are charged back and by the price adjustment per unit to arrive at the chargeback accrual. This calculation is performed by
product by customer. The calculated amount of chargebacks could be affected by other factors such as:

= A change in retail customer mix

+ A change in negotiated terms with retailers

*  Product sales mix at the wholesaler

*  Retail inventory levels

+  Changes in Wholesale Acquisition Cost (WAC)

The Company continually monitors the chargeback activity and adjusts the provisions for chargebacks when we believe that the actual
chargebacks will differ from our original provisions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Company maintains a return policy that allows our customers to return product within a
specified period. The Company’s estimate for returns is based upon its historical experience with actual returns. While such
experience has allowed for reasonable estimation in the past, history may not always be an accurate indicator of future returns. The
Company continually monitors its estimates for returns and makes adjustments when it believes that actual product returns may differ
from the established accruals.

Included in the adjustment for sales allowances and returns is a reserve for credits taken by our customers for rebates, return
authorizations and other discounts.

Sales discounts are granted for prompt pavment. The reserve for sales discounts is based on invoices outstanding and assumes that
100% of available discounts will be taken.

Price adjustments, including shelf stock adjustments, are credits issued from time to time to reflect decreases in the selling prices of
our products which our customer has remaining in its inventory at the time of the price reduction. Decreases in our selling prices are
discretionary decisions made by us to reflect market conditions. Amounts recorded for estimated price adjustments are based upon
specified terms with direct customers, estimated launch dates of competing products, estimated declines in market price and inventory
held by the customer. The Company analyzes this on a case by case basis and makes adjustments to reserves as necessary.

The Company adequately reserves for chargebacks, discounts, allowances and returns in the period in which the sales takes place. No
material amounts included in the provision for chargebacks and the provision for sales discounts recorded in the current pericd relate
to sales made in the prior periods. The provision for sales allowances and returns includes reserves for items sold in the current and
prior periods. The Company has substantially and consistently used the same estimating methods. We have refined the methods as
new data became available. There have been no material differences between the estimates applied and actual results.

The Company determines amounts that are material to the financial statements in consideration of all relevant circumstances including
quantitative and qualitative factors. Among the items considered is the impact on individual financial statement classification,
operating income and footnote disclosures and the degree of precision that is attainable in estimating judgmental items.
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The following table presents the roll forward of each significant estimate as of April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 and for the years then
ended, respectively.

Beginning Actual Credits Ending
Balance Current in Current Balance
May 1 Provision Period April 30
For the year ended April 30, 2008
Chargebacks.........oiiiiiiiccecceccccccccce v 3 3,309,000 8§ 24,980,000 $ (25,821,000) $ 2,668,000
5ales DISCOUNES .........ccveeeiececece e rrreesserrssssssns et stssse e sessssreses s sbesens 257,000 2,233,000 (2,050,000) 440,000
Sales Allowances & REfUIMS .......coooeeiueceieceeceieeeenesinreeenrieans 5,520,000 13,346,000 (13,509,000) 5,357,000
Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances............... $§ 9,286,000 § 40,559,000 $§ (41,380,000) $§ 8,465,000
For the year ended April 30, 2007
Chargebacks. ... 3 3,359,000 0 23,126,000 $ (22,976,000 $ 3,509,000
Sales DISCOUNLS ..ottt s b s 303,000 2,126,600 (2,172,000) 257,000
Sales Allowances & Returns..........ccooveeeiiiiiiicieicicceeeeeee e 3,741,000 14,754,000 (12,975,000) 5,520,000
Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances................. 3 7,403,000 $ 40,006,000 $ (38,123,000) § 9,286,000
For the year ended April 30, 2006
Chargebacks..........coevcvivricnieiiieie e siess e s e st asresaes $ 3,189,000 $ 19,986,000 $§ (19,816,0000 § 3,359,000
Sales DISCOUNTS ..c..vuvuvervrriereini i iiesinsisie et ss st st s sssetesemeeeeennaes 380,000 2,258,000 (2,335,000) 303,000
Sales Allowances & RetUms ..........cocvvvvvvvereerereeereeereseeeseenns 5,508,000 9,866,000 (11,633,000) 3,741,000
Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances................. $ 9,077,000 $§ 32,110,000 $ (33,784,000) $ 7,403,000

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: We have historically provided credit terms to customers in accerdance with what management
views as industry norms. Financial terms, for credit-approved customers, are generally on either a net 30 or 60 day basis, though most
customers are entitled to a prompt payment discount. Management periodically and regularly reviews customer account activity in
order to assess the adequacy of allowances for doubtful accounts, considering factors such as economic conditions and each
customer’s payment history and creditworthiness. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, or if they were
otherwise unable to make payments in accordance with management’s expectations, we would have to increase our allowance for
doubtful accounts.

Inventories: We state inventories at the lower of average cost or market, with cost being determined based upon the average method.
In evaluating the inventory, management considers such factors as the amount of inventory on hand, estimated time required to sell
existing inventory and expected market conditions, including levels of competition, We establish reserves for slow-moving and
obsolete inventories based upon our historical experience, product expiration dates and management’s assessment of current product
demand. :

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or
financial partnerships which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractuaily narrow or limited purposes. As of April 30, 2008 we were not involved in any contractual obligations, unconsolidated
transactions or off-balance sheet arrangements.

ITEM 7A.. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The Company’s existing credit facility bears interest at a rate selected by the Company equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR plus 0.75%.
This facility is exposed to market rate fluctuations and may impact the interest paid on any borrowings under the credit facility.
Currently, the Company has no borrowings under this facility; however, an increase in interest rates would impact interest expense on
future borrowings.

The Company invests in U.S, treasury notes, money market accounts and municipal securities, all of which are exposed to interest rate
fluctuations, The interest eamed on these investments may vary based on fluctuations in the interest rate.
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The Company has invested in auction rate securities (ARS) consisting of municipal securities that are held as investments available-
for-sale. After the initial issuance of these securities, the interest rate is reset periodically. The Company invests in ARS that reset as to
interest rate every 7 to 35 days and are carried at fair value. The Company has determined that auction rate securities should be
classified as investments because the “stated” or “contractual” maturities are generally 20 to 30 years. The securities are priced and
traded as current and non-current investments because of the interest reset feature. Classification of marketable securities as current or
non-current is dependent upon management’s intended holding period, the security’s maturity date and liquidity considerations based
on market conditions, If management intends to hold the securities for longer than one year as of the balance sheet date, they are
classified as non-current. During the fiscal year, two of the auction rate securities failed to auction due to sell orders exceeding buy
orders. Liquidity for these auction-rate securities is typically provided by an auction process that resets the applicable interest rate at
pre-determined intervals. These ARS have been classified as non-current. The funds associated with failed auctions will not be
accessible until a successful auction oceurs or a buyer is found outside of the auction process. The Company hired an independent
valuation company to help determine the value of the securities. The valuation indicated that one of the securities should be valued at
approximately 50% of par value. Therefore, the Company wrote down the security in the amount of $500,000 due to an other than
temporary reduction in the value. The effect of the loss on the value of the ARS securities is included in other income on the statement
of operations. If the credit rating of the security issuers of ARS deteriorates, the Company may be required to adjust the carrying value
of these investments through an additional impairment charge.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company”) as of April 30, 2008 and 2007,
and the related statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended April 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Hi-Tech
Pharmacal Co., Inc. as of April 30, 2008 and 2007, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended April 30, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As described in Note A{4] and A[15] to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, “dccounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB No. 109,”
effective May 1, 2007 and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment,” effective May 1, 2006,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Hi-Tech
Pharmacal Co., Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of Aprii 30, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0), and our report
dated July 11, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Eisner LLP

New York, New York
July 11, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

We have audited Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.’s (the “Company™) internal controt over financial reporting as of April 30, 2008, based
on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. OQur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a matenal effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, ¢ffective internal control over financial reporting as of April 30,
2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission,

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
balance sheets of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. as of April 30, 2008 and 2007 and the related statements of operations, changes in
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended April 30, 2008 and our report dated July 11,
2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements, and includes an explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an
imterpretation of FASB No. 109, " effective May 1, 2007 and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share Based
Payment,” effective May 1, 2006.

Eisner LLP

New York, New York
July 11, 2008



HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO,, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

April 30,
2008 2007
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash eqUIVAlENTIS .......cccviiviririiirirerererererier i ssessssssssssseraressesssssreraressesssssresasereas $ 11,722,000 § 9,198,000

Investments in marketable securities — available for sale..........c.ccccvverninicenci e — 24,070,000

Accounts receivable (less allowances for doubtful accounts of $200,000 and $350,000 at

April 30, 2008 and 2007, 1€SPECHVElY).....ccririrreicreie ettt 17,604,000 9,331,000

INVENIOMY c.eeeevevereirererreroriir e srsesr s sssesaresasssansnesaresassssnsnereresasnasasnestasasesesasnsaranssarasasnsrssssanes 18,024,000 14,485,000

Prepaid INCOME TAXES......coiveeieeieeeeeesiesi s esesere s ie s b sane et sssssssanestanserssasasenesssasesessnararnns 2,566,000 2,772,000

DEfeITEU INCOMIE LAKES ...vvevviervirviiieieserinrrererarsonsesssessserareraserasssssssassnesnnessnesssersssrssssssersssssinsesans 2,607,000 3,226,000

ONET CUITEIE ASSEES .ovveisesieeeeeee s st e e e e s ee e e e e eeeeemms s emmeaseasmasee s smmessssmtssestesssesnsasssesmeesssssasssetn 2,569,000 3,961,000
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS $ 55,092,000 $ 67,043,000
Property and equipment, net : 17,048,000 16,597,000
Investment in marketable securities, non-current 2,545,000 —
Other assets 419,000 420,000
Investment in Neuro-Hitech-available for sale (See note F) 248,000 7,589,000
Intangible assets, net 9,660,000 6,093,000
TOTAL $ 85,012,000 $ 97,742,000

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
ACCOUNLS PAVADIE ...oveeiiierieiicirisieiei bbb b sas st ssnsbaba et stssnasarerersrerees B 4,773,000 $ 3,237,000

ACCTUEH EXPEIISES -..eee ettt ettt et b e s s e e se s b e b s e e s ne et s he s 4,444,000 8,266,000
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES $  9217,000 $ 11,503,000
Deferred income taxes 630,000 3,254,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 90847,000 $§ 14,757,000
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized 3,000,000 shares, none issued ..............
Common stock, par value $.01; authorized 50,000,000 shares, 13,603,000 and 13,424,000
shares issued at April 30, 2008 and 2007, reSPECHVELY ......ccocrrrnrinmmniimsieiesssssssssrssniees 136,000 134,000
Additional paid-in CAPIL........covvreec et e e e e 54,829,000 50,783,000
Retained SarMinES ........ccvvvvieieiirere e s e ns s e sne e aesas s asassnssasaeaeans 41,487,000 46,585,000
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taX........cocooveeiireeeiir e 64,000 4,873,000
Treasury stock, 2,202,000 and 1,997,000 shares of common stock, at cost at April 30, 2008
AN 2007, FESPECHVELY. ....eocvoeeeeeeeeeteeeeeeee et bt b s bbb sas b b s s b as s b as s s b sassenas (21,351,000) (19,390,000)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’? EQUITY ..ot sesrsses s ssseseasessassanssssssssess s $ 75165000 § 82,985,000
TOTAL i $ 85012,000 § 97,742,000

See notes to Financial Statements




HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO,, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended April 30,
2008 2007 2006
NET SALES oottt e et eesss st easa e e st e sttt b b e s e emensem e re e emnnsnn 3 62,017,000 $ 58,898,000 3% 78,020,000
Cost of goods sold 40,505,000 35,704,000 35,833,000
GROSS PROFIT ..ottt sttt ers s eas s b as s e emeteans bt e emesenen 21,512,000 23,194,000 42,187,000
COST AND EXPENSES:
Selling, general and administrative EXPense.........ccooevieveeecresrsvaressnssecsenssserees 22,625,000 23,914,000 23,210,000
Research and product development COStS..........ivvevrivnresreresrriisiaisississnes 6,208,000 4,733,000 3,334,000
Contract research (INCOME)........ooveereereerereereerereesnssnrreinrrsnssrrsns e s seseees — (123,000) (27,000)
0L (] .4 L 1 L 27,000 18,000 12,000
Interest (income) and Other.........c...coiviiiieiiei it ettt (480,000) (1,314,000) (1,937,000)
TOTAL o bttt a e $ 28,380,000 $ 27228000 $ 24,592,000
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes (6,868,000) (4,034,000) 17,595,000
Provision for income tax (benefit)/expense (1,770,000) (1,998,000) 6,142,000
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ (5,098,000) $ (2,036,000) § 11,453,000
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE .........cooviececeeceeee et S (045) $ 0.17) § 0.96
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 3 (0.45) § 017 % 0.85
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING, BASIC......... .. 11,353,000 11,884,000 11,939,000
EFFECT OF POTENTIAL COMMON SHARES — — 1,465,000
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING, DILUTED 11,353,000 11,884,000 13,404,000

See notes to Financial Statements

F-5



HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Other Total
Paid in Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stock at  Stockhelders’ Comprchensive
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Cost Equity Income

BALANCE—APRIL 30,

2005 12,771,000 $ 128,0008 40,315,000 $ 37,168,000 — § (7.946,000) $ 69,665,000
NEet INCOME ...ovovenrirrrerrerennns 11,453,000 11,453,000 § 11,453,000
Exercise of options .............. 518,000 5,000 3,005,000 3,010,000
Issuance of options for

consulting...........cccooeev.. 319,000 319,000
Tax benefit from exercise of

OPHONS ...ceevererererienens 3,556,000 3,556,000
Accumulated other

comprehensive income,

net of taX......cccvveinrennins § 439,000 439,000 435,000
Total Comprehensive Income $ 11,892,000
BALANCE—APRIL 30,

2006 13,289,000 § 133,0008 47,195,000 $ 48,621,000 § 439,000 $ (7,946,000) § 88,442,000
Net (1088) c.ovcevvrecreireannn (2,036,000) (2,036,000)$ (2,036,000)
Exercise of options 135,000 1,000 251,000 252,000
Purchase of Treasury Stock . (11,444,000) (11,444,000)
Stock-based compensation

EXPENSE evrvorrrrrensrearrenens 2,830,000 2,830,000
Tax benefit from exercise of

OPHODS. cc.cv e 507,000 507,000
Accumulated other

comprehensive income,

net of tax. ... .oovveeeeececennes $ 4,434,000 4,434,000 4,434,000
Total Comprehensive Income 2,398,000
BALANCE—APRIL 30,

2007 13,424,000 § 134,000% 50,783,000 § 46,585,000 $ 4,873,000 $ (19,390,000) $ 82,985,000
Net (1088} oeveeereeeereeeeen (5,098,000) (5,098,000) (5,098,000)
Exercise of options .............. 179,000 2,000 425,000 427,000
Purchase of Treasury Stock . (1,961,000 {1,961,000)
Stock-based compensation

EXPENSE..vversecrinesenacerinne 3,151,000 3,151,000
Tax benefit from exercise of

OPLONS.....evcrieneereeeacriine 470,000 470,000

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income(loss), net of tax ..

(4,809,000)

(4,809,000)  (4,809,000)

Total Comprehensive Income

Balance — April 30, 2008 13,603,000 §$ 136,000% 54,829,000 § 41,487,000 §

$ (9,907,000)

64,000 $ (21,351,000) § 75,165,000

See notes to Financial Statements
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HI-TECH PHARMACAL COQ., INC,

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended April 30,
2008 2007 2006
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
[T Toa o Ll 3 ) $ (5,098,000) § (2,036,000) § 11,453,000
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating
Activities:
Depreciation and AmMOrtIZALON .........ocvveverininir i 2,923,000 2,835,000 2,616,000
Issuance of options for consulting eXPense ...........cccovieveveevreerrniereveesesernrenens — — 237,000
Deferred INCOME TAKES...c.voceeeeeeiirierieitseeeeirecre st eeseessess e ssssses st asnnssssssesnse 527,000 (1,450,000) 6,000
Tax benefit from exercise of OPtIONS......cccooveeieeeee e — — 3,556,000
Stock based cOMpensation EXPENSE...........ovcirevererereeesrerevensnsessssrersrsmirins 3,151,000 2,830,000 -—
Loss (gain) on salc of intangible asset..........ccoovveevivicvencscnsinee e seseeeneneas 90,000 (1,848,000) —
Other than temporary write down of marketable securities...........cc..coeuen. 500,000
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:
ACCOUNLS TECEIVADIE .....cvveeeceiiinc sttt sn e b sr e b sn e resnes (8,273,000) 7,388,000 (1,115,000)
IIVEIEOTY c.eceveeeetiirereiiire sttt se ettt eassn st esbemnescanssnes s e esseasenseseansnsessensssnsensannsnanan (2,617,000) (5,843,000) (281,000)
Prepaid taxes / taxes payable ... e e e sas s s 206,000 (742,000) (2,220,000)
Other CUMENE BSSELS...... ..o ceeeeteeeeece e eeieeresvereessessessrernsrrensersessessessronsersonsensensenes 178,000 (47,000) (84,000)
T BSSBIS oo cervrrrve it rrrses e v e e e e rassre e s e e s e e s e s s et s msnanassassrasassresansres 1,000 300,000 (548,000)
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ..ottt et et 1,536,000 (2,095,000) (78,000)
ACCTUEA EXPENSES ...oovererrirresiisiseesieseeseeeieeseeence e sristaresssssersessssersessasersentasessisssases (2,572,000 1,899,000 (463,000)
NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ (94480000 § 1,151,000 $ 13,079,000
" CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Investment in marketable SECUMLIES, TEL.........ovveeveriervereres e e sesre s s ese e b seens $ 21,025,000 930,000 (15,000,000)
Purchase of fIXed 8SSELS ..o e s eaees (2,563,000) (2,847,000) (4,150,000)
Purchase of intangible ASSEts .......cccvverrrieerriiccirine e e e (955,000) {150,000) (5,554,000)
Procceds from sale of intangible asset, et ..........cocveveeei s eseran 1,491,000 2,287.000 —
Purchase of Midlothian Laboratories, LLC assets (5,962,000) — —
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN} INVESTING ACTIVITIES $ 13,036,000 $ 220,000 § (24,704,000)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the exercise of OPONS .......coooveueeeieeeeiiesercree et et 427,000 252,000 3,010,000
Tax benefit of stock incentives 470,000 507,000 —
Purchase of treasury stock (1,961,000) (11,444,000) —
NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES $ (1,064,000) $ (10,685000) § 3,010,000
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,524,000 (9,314,000) (8,615,000)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ..o 9,198,000 18,512,000 27,127,000
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 11,722,000 $ 9,198,000 $ 18,512,000
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information ............coeevevivvsevecveennns
Cash paid fOr: TNETESt .....ovceeeeeeee et se e ettt 3 27,000 § 18,000 § 12,000
INCOMIE LAXES ..vevvecveecceeeee et e e s ses bt sb e st et et e re e basatsta st srennbene 32,000 — ¥ 5282000
Non-cash tranSACTIONS: .....cocceicieiiererir e eeeereeesereseeessessseesseamsessessmesssesesennes
Acquisition of intangible assets included in accrued expenses........... 1,250,000 —
Notes receivable from the sale of intangible asset........cccorveeerrrennans 2,816,000 —




HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(NOTE A) The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

[1] Business:

Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company” or “Hi-Tech”) manufactures and sells prescription and over-the-counter generic drugs,
in liquid and semi-solid dosage forms including higher margin prescription products. The Company markets its products in the United
States through distributors, retail drug and mass-merchandise chains and mail order companies. Revenue is seasonal and usually peaks
between September and March of each year, since a significant portion of the Company’s products are pharmaceutical preparations
acting on the human respiratory system.

The following table presents sales data for the Company by division.

Revenue 2008 2007 2006
Hi-TeCh GEMETICS ....eeeeeeieseeecveeeevesssveeerasesntersrrrerersrnressresersesssesssnsessases $ 46,256,000 % 46,361,000 $ 65471,000
Health Care PrOQUCLS..........cocieereeereceierevrereesssasessretsesssstssissrerarssersvesnnes 10,846,000 10,845,000 9,767,000
MIALOTRIATE ...ttt rere s sbe s e e s erse s arasbe s s s e s sesse e besaesberaenabanas 4,216,000 — —
NAPTELANT......c.veveeererisrses e s s cseeee e ettt sb st st sastsa bbb r s en s 699,000 1,692,000 2,782,000
TOLAL ettt tre st e i st sr s eess s eesenesnnessssaesrenesssaserntatntesssnnerasnentenrinntesns $§ 62017000 $§ 58,898,000 % 78,020,000

[2] Inventory:
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in first-out or average cost) or market.

[3] Property and equipment:

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Estimated depreciation and amortization of
the respective assets is computed using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives.

[4] Income taxes:

The Company uses the liability method to account for deferred income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109. The liability method measures deferred income taxes by applying enacted statutory rates in effect at the
balance sheet date to the differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial
statements. The resulting asset or liability is adjusted to reflect changes in the tax law as they occur.

On May 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation
of FASB Statement 109 (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This Interpretation provides that
the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in our financial statements, only if the position is more likely than not
of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position.

'[5] Revenue recognition:

Revenue is recognized for product sales upon shipment and passing of risk to the customer and when estimates of discounts, rebates,
promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments are reasonably determinable,
collection is reasonably assured and the Company has no further performance obligations. These estimates are presented in the
financial staterments as reductions to net revenues and accounts receivable. Contract research income is recognized as work is
completed and as billable costs are incurred. In certain cases, contract research income is based on attainment of designated
milestones.

[6] Advertising Expense:

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 amounted to
$2,923,000, $3,059,000, and $3,161,000, respectively.

{7] Freight Expense:
Freight costs are included in selling, general, and administrative expense.

(8] Research and Development Costs:
Resecarch and product development costs are charged to expense as incurred.
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[9] Cash and cash equivalents:

The Company considers U.S. Treasury bills and government agency obligations with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

[10] Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted
earnings per common share gives effect to all dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the year. The dilutive effect of the
outstanding options and warrants was computed using the treasury stock method. The number of potentially dilutive securities
excluded from the computation of diluted income per share was approximately 1,881,000, 1,295,000 and 299,000 at April 30, 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively. These securities were excluded since their effect would have been antidilutive.

[11] Long-lived assets:

The Company evaluates and records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations, including intangible assets, when
events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired using the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by
those assets. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair values less disposal costs.
No such losses were incurred in the three years ended Aprit 30, 2008.

[12] Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The carrying value of certain financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature or their underlying terms. The fair values of the financial instruments and
investments are determined by reference to market data and other valuation techniques, as appropriate.

[13] Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting peried. Actual results could differ from those estimates, The Company makes significant estimates in many areas of its
accounting, including but not limited to the following: sales returns, chargebacks, allowances and discounts, inventory obsolescence,
the useful lives of property and equipment and its impairment, stock-based compensation, accruals, impact of legal matters and the
realization of deferred tax assets. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

[14] Comprehensive Income:

The Company has adopted SFAS No. 130, “Reperting Comprehensive Income,” which requires companies to report as comprehensive
income all changes in equity during a period, except those resulting from investment by owners and distribution to owners, for the
period in which they are recognized. Comprehensive income is the totat of net income and all other non-owner changes in equity (or
other comprehensive income) such as unrealized gains/losses on securities classified as available for sale.

(15] Stock-Based Compensation:

Effective May 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payments,” which establishes the accounting for employee
stock-based awards. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date, based on the
calculated fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the requisite employee service period (generally the vesting
period of the grant). The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective method and, as a result, periods prior to
May 1, 2006 have not been restated.

As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) the Company recognized stock-based compensation for awards issued under the
Company’s Stock Option Plans in the following line items in the Statement of Operations:

Year ended Year ended
April 30, 2008 April 30, 2007
OSE OF SALBS .oeiiieieiciiiii ittt et ee e e e e e e ee e e e e e e eeeeaen by 663,000 $ 584,000
Selling, general and administrative expenscs 2,243,000 2,027,000
Research and development expenses 245,000 219,000
Stock-based compensation expense before income tax benefit $ 3,151,000 $ 2,830,000

F-9




During the year ended April 30, 2006 the Company recorded compensation expense for employee stock options based upon their
intrinsic value on the date of grant pursuant to Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” Since the exercise price for such options was equal to the fair market value of the Company’s stock at the date of grant,
the stock options had no intrinsic value upon grant and, therefore, no expense was recorded in the Statements of Operations.

Stock based compensation expense, net of related income tax benefit, resulted in an increase in basic and diluted loss per share of
$0.24 for the twelve months ended April 30, 2007 and 2008 as a result of the adoption of SFAS 123(R).

Had the compensation cost of the Company’s employee stock award plans for the twelve months ended April 30, 2006 been
determined in accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s pro forma net income and net income per share would have been:

Year ended
April 30, 2006
Net INCOME, 88 FEPOTLEA.......rvrrrerreeearerarressesrssersernssersrarasereisestastasisassasinaststesmasarionsesesssvesssssersensaserssssns . § 11,453,000
Less: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all awards,
0EL OF TEIALEA LAX EITECLS. ...o.eivereice e s e s sas s b st sase b e sssssabssasasassssonssssans (1,351,000)
PO fOITNA NEE ICOMIE ...ttt e et e e e et s sr et st shese s sb s resas b eseabe st sassseabesasas b s sasabesasbn b s st et e e aat b $ 10,102,000

e —————— ]

Net income per share:

As reported .

BaSIC .o neieieeereer it rr e e e e e et ae s e she e be e b e et e eabe e iRt Rt e ahAEeaAEe R RaRbaeAasenseAsresbesbessesbe bt eenbssabsenbans $ 0.96
DHIULEA. ..ot e e et e st e st e eaeee s et e ea b e s s eamsesmeenmsansaamsanasansssanssnmnareesnnsrnserseeresaseonns $ 0.85
Pro forma

BaASIC .. et v v e e e Rt e e et e b eebteebeeesatesbessbes b snrant s et e vansastnesratns $ 0.85
DHIULEA. ...ttt ettt tat sttt s v ee st ee s s en b e st eamsesmseamsarassseesssesse s smsensemse st e se e st e teeneesnsenserenns $ 0.75

Under the modified prospective method, SFAS No. 123(R) applies to new awards and to awards outstanding on the effective date that
are subsequently modified or cancelled. Compensation expense for outstanding awards for which the requisite service had not been
rendered as of May 1, 2006 is being recognized over the remaining service period using the compensation cost calculated for pro
forma disclosure purposes under SFAS No. 123. The Company amortizes the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period. Cumulative compensation expense recognized at any date will at feast equal the grant date fair value of the
vested portion of the award at that time.

SFAS No. 123(R) requires the use of a valuation model to calculate the fair value of stock-based awards. The Company has elected to
use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which incorporates various assumptions including volatility, expected life and interest
rate. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The expected life of an award is
based on the expected life pursuant to Staff Accounting Builetin No. 107, “Share Based Payments”. The interest rates for periods
within the contractual life of the award are based on the U.S. Treasury yield on the date of each option grant.

The following weighted average assumptions were used for stock options granted during the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and
2006:

Year Ended April 30,

_ 2008 2007 2006
Dividend Vield.........ccoooveieviiiecr ettt e None None None
Expected VOIAtILIEY. ........c.cioiiiieciieieiici st st enstasssess e bt bbb bats b 52% 52% 61%
RiSK-TEE IMEETESE TALE ..o ceeeieieie et eee e s eeeanesseneeee e e eesmeeee e eneas 3.37% 4.69% 4.45%
EXPected tEIM.......c.ee ettt s 5.0 50 50
Weighted average fair value per share at grant date........coeecvvvcccrcvncvnnscenn. & 505 8 616  § 1285

All options granted through April 30, 2008 had exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant, a
contractual term of ten years and generally a vesting period of four years. In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), the Company adjusts
stock-based compensation on a quarterly basis for changes to the estimate of expected equity award forfeitures based on actual
forfeiture experience. The effect of adjusting the forfeiture rate for all expense amortization after May 1, 2006 is recognized in the
period the forfeiture estimate is changed. As of April 30, 2008, the forfeiture rate was 8% and the effect of forfeiture adjustments in
the year April 30, 2008 was insignificant,

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits related to stock-based compensation as an operating
cash inflow. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the cash flows resulting from tax deductions in excess of compensation cost recognized for
those options (excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing cash flows. The actual income tax benefits realized for tax deductions
related to option exercises of share-based payments was $507,000, $3,556,000 and $697,000 for the year ended April 30, 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively. -
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STOCK OPTION PLAN ACTIVITY

Emplovee Stock Option Plan:
A summary of the stock options activity and related information for the 1992 Stock Option Plan (“*Employee Plan™) for the year ended
April 30, 2008 is as follows: .

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsle

1992 Stock Option Plan Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
Outstanding at May 1, 2007..........ceveveerecvnen 2,247,000 10.29
GITANLS ooovveiirisirecse e ssssssssasss s aseareens 268,000 10.68
Exercised ..........cocoviiniininiicineie e (171,000) 2.38
Forfeitures or expirations.............c.ccocveeenies (43,000) 14.50 )
Outstanding at April 30,2008 ..................... 2,301,000 10.85 59 § 3,617,000
Vested and expected to vest at April 30, .

2008 ..o 2,247,000 10.79 58 % 3,617,000
Exercisable at April 30, 2008 ............coveveren 1,616,000 9.75 47 % 3,617,000

Directors Stock Option Plan

A summary of the stock option activity and related information for the 1994 Director Stock Option Plan for the year ended April 30,
2008 is as follows:

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic

1994 Directors Stock Option Plan Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
Outstanding at May 1, 2007 ...........ccoecenee. 406,000 $ 12.35
Grants 71,000 $ 9.65
Exercised (8,000) $ 2.39
Outstanding at April 30, 2008 469,000 $ 12.11 . 64 % 485,000
Vested and expecied to vest at April 30,

2008 ... 469,000 11.71 64 § 485,000
Exercisable at April 30, 2008 ..................... 289,000 10.67 52 § 485,000

The aggregate intrinsic values in the preceding tables represent the total pretax intrinsic value, based on options with an exercise price
less than the Company’s closing stock price of $8.75 as of April 30, 2008, which would have been received by the option holders had
those option holders exercised their options as of that date.

Total intrinsic values of options exercised for the 1992 Stock Option Plan and the 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan were $1,363,000
and $1,342,000 for the years ended April 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. As of April 30, 2008, $5,406,000 of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to stock options for both plans is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.0 years.

[16] Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” which replaces SFAS 141 but
retains the fundamental concept of purchase method of accounting in a business combination and improves reporting by creating
greater consistency in the accounting and financial reporting of business combinations, resulting in more complete, comparable, and
relevant information for investors and other users of financial statements. To achieve this goal, the new standard requires the acquiring
entity in a business combination to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction and any noncontrolling
interest at the acquisition date measured at their fair value as of that date. This statement requires measuring a noncontrolling interest
in the acquiree at fair value which will result in recognizing the goodwill attributable to the noncontrolling interest in addition to that
attributable to the acquirer. This statement also requires the recognition of assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from
contractual contingencies as of the acquisition date, measured at their acquisition fair values. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal
years beginning afier December 15, 2008, The Company is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 141(R) on its financial
position and results of operations.

On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, ‘Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements”, an
amendment of ARB No. 51, which will affect only those entities that have an outstanding noncontrolling interest in one or more
subsidiaries or that deconsolidate a subsidiary by requiring all entities to report noncontrolling (minority) interests in subsidiaries in
the same way as equity in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, SFAS No. 160 eliminates the diversity that currently
exists in accounting for transactions between an entity and noncontrolling interests by requiring they be treated as equity transactions.
SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
SFAS No. 160 on its financial position and results of operations.
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In December 2007, the EITF issued EITF Issue No. 07-1 (“EITF 07-17), Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements. EITF 07-1
affects entities that participate in collaborative arrangements for the development and commercialization of intellectual property. The
EITF affirmed the tentative conclusions reached on (1) what constitutes a collaborative arrangement, (2) how the parties should
present costs and revenues in their respective income statements, (3) how the parties should present cost-sharing payments, profit-
sharing payments, or both in their respective income statements, and (4) disclosure in the annual financial statements of the partners.
EITF 07-1 should be applied as a change in accounting principle through retrospective application to all periods presented for
collaborative arrangements existing as of the date of adoption. EITF 07-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this statement on its
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force on Issue No., 07-3, Accounting for Advance
Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in Future Research and Development Activities (“Issue 07-3"), which is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007 and is applied prospectively for new contracts entered into on or after the effective
date. Issue 07-3 addresses nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services for use in future research and development
activities. Issue 07-3 will require that these payments that will be used or rendered for future research and development activities be
deferred and capitalized and recognized as an expense as the related goods are delivered or the related services are performed. If an
entity does not expect the goods to be delivered or the services to be rendered the capitalized advance payments should be expensed.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this statement on its financial position and results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 (“SFAS 159}, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financia!
Liabilities,” providing companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The Standard’s
objective is to reduce both complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the volatility in earnings caused by measuring
related assets and liabilities differently. Generally accepted accounting principles have required different measurement attributes for
different assets and liabilities that can create artificial volatility in earnings. SFAS 159 helps to mitigate this type of accounting-
induced volatility by enabling companies to report related assets and liabilities at fair value, which would likely reduce the need for
companies to comply with detaited rules for hedge accounting. SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements
designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and
liabilities. The Standard requires companies to provide additional information that will help investors and other usets of financial
statements to more easily understand the effect of the Company’s choice to use fair value on its earnings. It also requires entities to
display the fair value of those assets and liabilities for which they have chosen to use fair value on the face of the balance sheet.
SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS
No. 159 to have a significant effect on its financial position or results of operations.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair
Value Measurements”, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Where applicable, SFAS No. 157 simplifies and codifies
related guidance within GAAP and does not require any new fair value measurements, SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlier adoption is
encouraged. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a significant effect on its financial position or
results of operation.

(NOTE B) Marketable Securities:

The Company has invested in auction rate securities {ARS) consisting of municipal securities that are held as investments available-
for-sale. After the initial issuance of these securities, the interest rate is reset periodically. The Company invests in ARS that reset as to
interest rate every 7 to 35 days and are carried at fair value. The Company has determined that auction rate securities should be
classified as investments because the “stated” or “contractual” maturities are generally 20 to 30 years. The securities are priced and
traded as current and non-current investments because of the interest reset feature. Classification of marketable securities as current or
non-current is dependent upon management’s intended holding peried, the security’s maturity date and liquidity considerations based
on market conditions. If management intends to hold the securities for longer than one year as of the balance sheet date, they are
classified as non-current, During the fiscal year, two of the auction rate securities failed to auction due to sell orders exceeding buy
orders. Liquidity for these auction-rate securities is typically provided by an auction process that resets the applicable interest rate at
pre-determined intervals. These ARS have been classified as non-current. The funds associated with failed auctions will not be
accessible until a successful auction cccurs or a buyer is found outside of the auction process. The Company hired an independent
valuation company to help determine the value of the securities. The valuation indicated that one of the securities should be valued at
approximately 50% of par value. Therefore, the Company wrote down the security in the amount of $500,000 due to an other than
temporary reduction in the value. The effect of the loss on the value of the ARS securities is included in other income on the statement
of operations.
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The balance sheet classification and schedule of maturities {current and non-current) is as follows:

April 30, April 30, Maturity
2008 2007 Date
Auction rate SECUITIES - CUTTENT ....oovvvviveeeiereireeereer s reescnssssrassranssssasssans ons — § 24,070,000 2023-2042
Current marketable SECURILIES . .oocvvvivivveii e e er s eessnneeeees — 24,070,000
Auction rate SecUrities - NON-CUITENT .......covivveieceieireeiiee s irnreesrererrsresrense: $ 2,545,000 2037-2042
Total marketable SECULIES.......cocovnviriiiee e ss e s e $ 2545000 § 24,070,000 2023-2042

(NOTE C) Accounts Receivable:

At April 30, 2008 and 2007, accounts receivable balances net of returns and allowances and allowance for doubtful accounts are as

follows:
April 30,
2008 2007
ACCOUNLS TECEIVADIE, BIOSS ....ovvrierere st e s st s easa s ne e $ 26269000 § 18,967,000
Adjustment for returns and price allowances (@)......covvieinn (8,465,000} (9,286,000)
Allowance for doubtfi] ACCOUNLS. ...t (200,000) (350,000)
Accounts receivable, MEL ...ttt e e e s see s e s rsesstessrarssnneseranesanee $ 17,604,000 $ 9,331,000
(a) directly reduces gross revenue
(NOTE D) Inventory:
The components of inventory consist of the following:
April 30,
2008 2007
Finished goods and work in PIOCESS........vvecerereremccrereneee s stsssssssssssssissisisssmsmsnsesssss 9 5,898,000 5 5,484,000
RAW MALEIIALS ..ot essa s s s s e e s s s ss e s s s beeesarareenssbatsesastesssatesssnsntrrs 12,126,000 9,001,000
TOMAL ..o et R e E R e R e e b R nn $ 18,024,000 § 14,485,000

(NOTE E) Property and Equipment:

The components of net property and equipment consist of the following:

Apl 30,
2008 12007 Useful Lives

Land and building and Improvements..........cccoovoviinrinennreressesesessesessssssssssssesssnes $ 13,478,000 $ 12,534,000 27.5 Yrs.
Machinery and eqUIPIMIENL........eocewverervrrererermie s see s ssssssb s sessens 20,368,000 19,040,000 7 and 10 Yrs.
TransSportation SQUIPITIENE .........ccoveerieerernerereesnesarecsnssassesnssssesecs srsacasameemermsorssssssssans 37,000 50,000 7 Yrs.
COMPULET EQUIPINIENL . ...c.veueeeirerereerererrorerarerarsesssseraressosesnsserararaens sosascrescmcemencaretsienes 2,528,000 2,352,000 3and 7 Yrs.
Furniture and fIXIUEES.......c...iciveeieniieeesier s streres v e rs e sesnsssraresnnsserasssanssssasssnes e seessons 1,090,000 1,026,000 7 Yrs.

37,501,000 $ 35,002,000
Accumulated depreciation and aMOTtiZAION...........cccoviieriniereess e 20,453,000 18,405,000
Total property and eGUIPMENt—TIEL ..........vccrvreeerrerarerseresrsrerarasaencsrescscseecomemsassesssinss $ 17,048,000 § 16,597,000

The Company incurred depreciation expense of $2,190,000, $1,988,000 and $1,956,000 for the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007, and

2006, respectively.
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(NOTE F} Investment in Neuro-Hitech:

The valuation of our investment in Neuro-Hitech, Inc., a marketable security valued pursuant to SFAS 1135, is classified as available
for sale and measured at fair value with the adjustment to fair value and changes therein to be retained by the Company recorded in
accurnulated other comprehensive income. At April 30, 2008, the Company owned 1,126,922 shares of Neuro-Hitech with a fair value
of $0.22 per share, with a total value of $248,000 which resulted in a decrease of unrealized gain of $4,809,000, net of deferred tax of

. $2,532,000, being inciuded in accumulated other comprehensive income(loss) as of such date.

At April 30, 2007, the Company owned 1,125,610 shares of Neuro-Hitech with a fair value of $6.70 per share, with a total value of
$7,589,000 which resulted in an unrealized gain of $4,873,000, net of deferred tax of $2,566,000, being included in accumulated other
comprehensive income as of such date.

(NOTE G) Other Assets:

Included in other assets is the Company’s investment in a limited liability company for the marketing, development and distribution of
nutritional supplements, Marco Hi-Tech JV LLC (“Margo Hi-Tech™). The investment in Marco Hi-Tech is recorded using the equity
method. During fiscal year ended April 30, 2008 income of $58,000 attributable to the investment in Marco Hi-Tech is included in
other income. At April 30, 2008 the carrying value of this investment was $359,000.

During fiscal year ended April 30, 2007, a loss of $249,000 attributed to the investment in Marco Hi-Tech is included in other income.
At April 30, 2007, the carrying value of this investment was $344,000.

{NOTE H) Intangible Assets:

Intangible assets are stated at cost and amortized using the straight line method over the expected useful lives of the product rights.
Amortization expense of the intangible assets for the year ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $733,000, $847,000, and
$660,000, respectively, Amortization is included in selling, general and administrative expenses for all periods presented. The
Company tests for impairment of intangible assets annually and when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the
assets may not be recoverable.

Business acquisition:

On December 28, 2007, the Company acquired the assets of Midlothian Laboratories, LLC for $5.0 million in an all-cash transaction.
Additionally, Hi-Tech paid approximately $0.9 million for inventory and will pay potentially up to $1.0 million in performance
incentives tied to future Midlothian product sales, and the approvat of an ANDA. Under the terms of the acquisition Hi-Tech received
rights to Midlothian’s current product line, consisting of prescription nutritional supplements including pre-natal vitamins and several
cough and cold formulations, and future ANDA and non-ANDA products that are in development.

Intangible assets with a preliminary estimated fair value of $4,596,000 were also recognized in the acquisition of certain assets of
Midlothian Laboratories, LLC. These assets, consisting of licenses and a covenant not to compete, have estimated lives of
approximately 3 to 10 years. Any excess purchase price over the assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The acquisition of
Midlothian Laboratories, LLC has been recorded based on preliminary estimates as of the date of acquisition. The Company is
conducting an appraisal of the fair value of the intangible assets acquired and changes to the preliminary estimates during the
allocation period will be reflected as an adjustment to intangibles or goodwill. Any increase in total consideration will be recorded
pursuant to paragraph 26 of SFAS 141, “Business Combinations.”

Assets acquired in connection with the purchase of the assets of Midlothian Laboratories, LLC are:

Trademarks and fOTTMULAS ...........c.cvcirieiiinie s eresessnssssssssonansssasereresnsnsssssesessernresenes B 4,139,000
COVENANT NOL 10 COMPELE .....ueeiieeeesrriscirt st ists it iserest s e s e e se e eeseu s s e st srrbarbesbsss b bt ssbersssneseessessansssesasesanansersrarsrns 174,000
GOOAWIIL. ...kttt eee et eeesas e bt et b s ea b s et e emme e e eeme e ee e e s e b TS A8 4 et 01 Stk s 1At b e emeeemens 263,000
IIVEIIIOTY oottt ettt e e e ee e e s e s e st e s s saa et s et et e s meme et S m e £ ot e aepr g add 44 4o b e e a ke he et e smn e s e anemeeene 922,000
OMHET ASSEES o.vveerveerieeirieriesresieeeesseesseessareeesseeeseonstonstsss abbnneebese e st eesbeseresaresnsesnessntssrsssbs sttt eteeesasssnanseesnsesnresnss 367,000
FUMIBIE BN FIKUIES ..cvevcteivceriii i re e sss s smes et st arasasats bbb b bt e e s See e e s e e SR bbb bbbt 77,000
TOLAL PUFCIASE PIICE .. eueeeuriemeeeieieceeeesesevsasssarsresasasas e st eeneasbes e e st st se et sae s rs ara e sa bbb srasaseam e ne e e £ e n s s sennsasansens $ 5,962,000

[ a1
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Acquired intangible assets consist of:

April 30, 2008 Apil 30, 2007
Gross Carrylng Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Amortization Period
Zostrix® intangible assets ....cocoooeeevcee. $ 5,354,000 $ (1,296,000) § 5,354,000 §  (794,000) 3-11.5 years
Midlothian intangible assets .........ccocoeeeeeene 4,596,000 (158,000) 3-10 years
Vosol® and Vosol®* HC intangible assets.... 700,000 (18,000) 700,000 — 10 years
Other intangible assets..........ccccecvrrniiniinn, 604,000 {122,000) 900,000 (67,000) 10 years

$ 11,254,000 $ (1,594,000) $ 6,954,000 $§ (861,000)

The Company acquired exclusive rights to market and distribute Naprela,ne (naproxen sodium) controlled release tablets in the United
States, its territories, and Puerto Rico in June 2004, As consideration for the acquisition, Hi-Tech paid $3,400,000 in cash for the
license and inventory, and approximately $170,000 for rclated acquisition costs. The Company incurred amortization expense of $0,
$323,000, and $323,000 for the years ended April 30, 2008,92007 and 2006, respectively, in connection with Naprelan® license. On
April 30, 2007, the Company sold its rights to the Naprelan™ brand to Victory Pharma, Inc for approximately $6,200,000. Hi-Tech co-
owned the product in connection with Stat-Trade, Inc.

The financial statements as of April 30, 2007 include a gain on the sale of the Naprelan” license agreement of $1,848,000, net of
expenses.

On July 12, 2005, the Company acquired an interest in Zostrix" brand products for $5,054,000 including $491,000 of closing costs.
$4,000,000 was paid at the closing and $400,000 was payable in four equal quarterly instaliments commencing October 1, 2003, Such
amount was paid by the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008. The Company incurred amortization expense of $490,000, $474,000 and
$320,000 for the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, in connection with the purchase of Zostrix_ brand.

On February 19, 2007 the Company purchased the rights to a Capsaisin and Lidocaine combination product from Rodlen Laboratories,
Inc. The purchase price for the formula was $300,000 of which $150,000 was paid upon signing and $150,000 is inciuded in accrued
expenses on April 30, 2007 and was paid on June 19, 2007. The agreement with Rodlen includes a royalty payable to Rodlen based on
future net sales. The Capsaisin and Lidocaine product is sold under the Zostrix® brand name. The Company incurred amortization
expense of $13,000 for the year ended April 30, 2008.

Other intangible assets include assets related to the Choice ® DM and Tanafed * acquisitions.

Estimated Amortization Expense
For the year ending April 30,

1 4 SO OO OO OOy PP OO 1,095,000
1 1 OO OO SO U O PP OO SOOI 1,038,000
2002 o eeteiit it e e e et eeaeaentant ekt e ke e be R e e re e he R he RS AR nAn e SR e e AR AA b A Re s A Re AR e e s A e n e e e ranes 987,000
T3 1 1= o O OO PP 4,451,000
TOLAL. 1 vei vt ies et estcetessee e seree s besaresabesssesssassnassnessaessssssesassmemsmeme e mmemmeen e ekt s EAeAaLe s eh e SR a e sRe e sRenRR s nRE s bn b e bes $ 9,660,000

(NOTE 1) Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities:

The following summarizes accrued expenses and other current liabilities:

April 30,
2008 2007
Accrued litigation SEHIEMENT ......o.ev.veeererererere s cseta st sss e bbb R a R asase e eres $ 0 % 2,500,000
Accrued rebates and adVEITISING ..........ccoveiviercierieerrererssserernsrserssessecemssems e esesss b ettt et ea st 1,967,000 2,279,000
Contractual OBLIZATIONS .......cvccveiiiiiiiiinrne e e te st s sas b ss et sesassr s e s er et s shs st b sas e b b s b aans 0 1,038,000
Accrued commissions and royalty PAYIMENIS ........ccuiiiinrerrenrrs e seseeeree s et sesssssssstasesrorsresseasssrnsensas 982,000 932,000
Accrued payroll And BOMUSES.......cucurvreirrrc e e e e e e e e 919,000 746,000
Accrued professional and legal fees. ... 425,000 650,000
L7113 S SO SO OO PP UPY PSR POT SO 151,000 121,000

$ 4,444,000 3§ 8,266,000
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(NOTE J) Customer Deposits and Contract Research Income;

Contract research income is recognized as work is completed and as billable costs are incurred. In certain cases, contract research
income is based on attainment of designated milestones. Advance payments may be received to fund certain development costs.

(NOTE K) Credit Facility:

In May 2006, the Company amended the revolving credit facility obtained in 2002 for $8,000,000, and increased the borrowing limit
to $10,000,000. Under the agreement the revolving credit facility bears interest at a rate elected by the Company equal to the Prime
Rate or LIBOR plus 0.75%. Loans are collateralized by inventory, accounts receivable and other assets. The agreement contains
covenants with respect to working capital, net worth and certain ratios, as well as other covenants and prohibits the payment of cash
dividends. In April 2008, the Company amended the revolving credit facility and the lender waived the Company’s non-compliance
with certain covenants. The Company’s ability to borrow is limited by the amendment until the Company returns to profitability. No
borrowings have been made through April 30, 2008 under the credit facility.

(NOTE L) Related Party Transactions:

Bemard Seltzer resigned as Chairman of the Board in September 2004 and served as Chairman of the Board Emeritus until his death
in May 2007, The Company had an employment agreement with the Chairman of the Board Emeritus which expired April 30, 2008.
Mr. Bernard Seltzer’s employment agreement required the Company to pay the estate or designated beneficiary through the April 30,
2008 term of the agreement. Compensation under the agreement for all years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $285,000 for
each year. Under the current employment agreement, a discretionary bonus may be authorized by the board of directors. No annual
bonuses were paid under the agreement for the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

On March 28, 2007, Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company’’} entered into an amended and restated executive employment
agreement with David S. Seltzer pursuant to which Mr. Seltzer is to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer, effective May |,
2007 through April 30, 2010. Mr. Seltzer is to receive an annual base salary of $421,375 for the period May 1, 2007 through April 30,
2008 (*Base Salary™) and for each fiscal year thereafter during the term of the employment agreement, Mr. Seltzer will be paid a base
salary equal to the sum of (a} the Base Salary for the immediately preceding fiscal year and (b) an amount determined by multiplying
the Base Salary in effect for the immediately preceding fiscal year by five percent (5%). Mr. Seltzer may also receive a bonus during
cach year of employment which shall be determined in accordance with an Executive Bonus Plan to be adopted by management and
approved by the Company’s compensation committee. Such Executive Bonus Plan may be based on the Company meeting certain
fiscal goals and also taking into account, among other things, progress towards strategic objectives not fully measured by pre-tax net
income. Mr. Seltzer shall be eligible to receive options to purchase a minimum amount of 50,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock. Compensation under the agreement for the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $421,000, $401,000 and $382,000,
respectively. Annual bonuses under the agreement were $0, $314,000, and $277,000 paid in the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and
2008, respectively.

The Company utilizes the services of Mr. Reuben Seltzer, an attorney, stockholder and a director, and brother of the President, He
provided legal and new business development services throughout the year. For each of the fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, he
received fees, auto allowance and health insurance benefits totaling $254,000, $205,000, and $236,000, respectively. Mr. Reuben
Seltzer was previously the CEO of Neuro-Hitech and also has an interest in the joint venture of Marco Hi-Tech as described in Note F.

In addition, in each of fiscal years 2002 and 2001 the Company granted Mr. Reuben Seltzer an option to purchase 37,500 shares of the
Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $5.76 and $2.67, respectively, which vest at 25% per annum and are exercisable
through 2012 and 2011, respectively. During the years ended April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company valued this option at $0,
$0, and $237,000, respectively, which was charged to operations.

The Company is jointly developing a generic product outside of its area of expertise with EMET Pharmaceuticals, LLC (“EMET™),
previously known as XCell Pharmaceuticals, and another company. Reuben Seltzer is a principal of EMET. During the fiscal years
2008 and 2007, the Company spent approximately $1,591,000 and $409,000, respectively, on this project, which was included in
research and development expense.

Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn and Crandell P.C. received $256,000, $217,000, and $213,000 in legal fees in each of the years ended
April 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, for services performed for the Company. Mr. Martin M. Goldwyn, a member of such
firm, is a director of the Company.

{(NOTE M) Commitments, Contingencies and Other Matters:

[1] Government regulation:

The Company’s products and facilities are subject to regulation by a number of Federal and state governmental agencies. The Food
and Drug Administration (“FDA”), in particular, maintains oversight of the formulation, manufacture, distribution, packaging and
labeling of all of the Company’s products.
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[2] Legal Proceedings:

On May 8, 2008, Pamlab, L.L.C. and Metabolite Laboratories, Inc. (collectively “Pamlab”) filed a complaint against the Company in
the United States District Court for the District of Colorado, case 1:08-cv-00967-REB-BNB. In the first count of the complaint,
Pamiab alleges that the Company’s marketing and distribution of its Folamin dietary supplement infringes U.S. Patent No. 6,528,496
(the “496 patent™). In the second count of the complaint, Pamtab alleges that the Company has committed false advertising under
Section 43 of the Lanham Act in connection with its marketing of Folamin and Folic Acid / B-6 / B-12 Rx Combination dietary
supplements. On June 11, 2008, the Company filed an answer disputing the allegations in the complaint and denying any liability to
Pamlab. In addition, the Company filed a counterclaim against Pamlab alleging that Pamlab’s marketing of its Foltx products
constitutes false advertising in violation of Section 43 of the Lanham Act. The Company believes Pamlab’s complaint is without
merit.

On April 9, 2008, Nycomed US, Inc. filed a complaint against the Company and Weldon Crow, bearing Index No. 08-13512, in the
Supreme Court of the State of New York, Suffolk County alleging mxsapproprlatlon and use of trade secrets and confidential and
proprietary information in connection with the generic equivalent of Dovonex”. The Company filed an answer to the complaint on
May 5, 2008 denying the above allegations. Discovery has commenced. The Company believes the matter is without merit and is
vigorously contesting the claims,

On January 30, 2007, Michael Chittenden and Marcy L. Chittenden filed a complaint against Amold H. Zukow, M.D. et al and the
Company, Case No. BC346212, in the Los Angeles Superior Court in the state of California, alleging wrongful death of the plaintiff’s
daughter as a result of her being negligently and improperly treated and prescribed the prescription drug, Phenergan (Promethazine
HCI) with Phenylepherine and codeine, which the Company does not manufacture. The complaint was later amended when the
Company was added as a new defendant based on a prescription being filled for Promethazine with Codeine immediately prior to the
daughter’s death. The Company’s defense costs, after its deductible, are being covered under its product liability policy which has a
$10 million limit for defense costs and liability. The Company filed an answer to the complaint on February 28, 2007. The Company
believes it has meritorious defenses to the allegations in the Complaint. The Company filed a motion for summary judgment on the
grounds that its medication was not administered to the child, which was denied in November 2007, leaving it for a jury to ultimately
decide which defendant company manufactured the drug given to the decedent. The Company also filed a separate motion for
summary adjudication on the grounds that the failure to warn claims are preempted by federal law. This motion was denied. The
Company re-filed the product identification summary judgment motion based on new facts and the federal preemption motion which
are set for hearing on August 19, 2008. A mediation has been set for September 12, 2008. Non-expert discovery is ongoing. Trial is
scheduled for January 12, 2009.

On September 28, 2007, Walmed Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., LLC filed a complaint against the Company, Case No. 1:07CV81G, in the
United States District Court, District of Chio, Western Division, alleging that the Company breached its brokerage agreement with
plaintiff. The Company filed an answer to the complaint denying all liability on December 7, 2007. Discovery is in the early stages.
Trial by jury is scheduled to commence on July 20, 2009. The Company intends to vigorously defend against Walmed’s

complaint. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the allegations in the complaint.

In Coria Laboratories, Ltd. v. Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc., C.A. 07-CV-0734 (XR) (W.D. Tex.), filed on September 10, 2007,
plaintiff Coria has asserted claims for false advertising, unfair competition and common law misappropriation against defendant Hi-
Tech, based on Hi-Tech's marketing and sale of Salicylic Acid 6% Cream and Salicylic Acid 6% Lotion. Coria secks both
compensatory and punitive damages and requests an injunction to preclude Hi-Tech from marketing its salicylic acid products in the
manner objected to by Coria. Hi-Tech denies all liability under any of Coria’s claims, and has asserted a counterclaim for a
declaratory judgment that its marketing and sale of salicylic acid products has not and does not constitute false advertising, unfair
competition or misappropriation. Coria has moved to dismiss Hi-Tech’s counterclaim and its motion is pending. The parties have
conducted limited discovery and the Court has set a February 2009 trial date. Hi-Tech has no estimate at this time of its potential
exposure in the event of a finding of liability in this matter. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the allegations in the
complaint.

(NOTE N) Income Taxes:

[1]) The provision (benefit) for income taxes is comprised of the following:

Year Ended April 30,

1008 2007 2006
|
Current: ‘
Federal ........ccooooveiiimnnnieininieseneciinsnineane e rr et s e erae $ (2,225,000) % (295,000) $ 5,582,000 ‘
SEALE Loeviiiiiiiriiis v eree e s e e ran e s s teeesee s s s e re s s s e resnnrsesraeesanarrasans 0 (207,000) 554,000
Deferred:
Federal ...ttt bt 479,000 (1,474,000) 5,000
SALE .o eeee ekt e et e s e e et et be e s st e et e e et e e rar e s nerraeate (24,000} (22,000) 1,000
0 | SRS $ (1,770,000) $ (1,998,000) $ 6,142,000
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[2] Expected tax expense based on the statutory rate is reconciled with actual tax expense as follows:

Year Ended April 30,

2008 2007 2006

SEAMILOTY TALE ..o e e e aresaesesnsneveresesasss s e be e b e e se e ae b e e e se e b nEe e e e neaneaane (34.0% (34.00% 35.0%
State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit ..o e (0.5)% (6.6)% 4.2%
Research and development tax Benefit..........cooiiiic e e e ra e s (2.9)% 6.6)% (2.7)%
IRS Section 199 tax CTEAIL .......cccccooiirrrrrreeeresrerersaeeie st se s s s e s et reresesene — — (0.9%
TaX EXCIMPE INTETEST.....eeueetieiereriire ettt e ese e e e e s s b b esesssaberesssaerssssesesnestsns (3.9% (9.8Y% (1.4)%
Share-based compensation expense from incentive stock options as a result of SFAS 123R................ 10.3% 25.6% —
Effect of a change in state tax rate .. ettt 54% —
Adjustment to reconcile book and tax ba315 of assets ............................................................................ 29%  (17.h% —
NYS inveSIMENE taX CTEAIL ..o rae e e s sasss st eas s be e st sasre st et e e et esemeenenen — 5.6)% —
BT .. bbb e bbb b e b e b s bbbt eesm s s ee s e et ee et ee e eeesesearararasrarirn 2.3% 0.2)% 0.7%
EfFRCHIVE LAX FALE .....eceecteee e e a s st eas b e e st sttt a e ae s bt eb et et e benbetnteen e ennneetneenenee (25.8)% (49.5% 34.9%

The Company included in the tax benefit for the year ended April 30, 2007, the adjustment to reconcile differences in the book
and tax basis relating to fixed assets and the IRS section 263A adjustment.

For the years ended April 30, 2008, April 30, 2007, and April 30, 2006, the Company’s state effective tax rate was reduced due
to the utilization of state investment tax credits and change in New York law. Future state income tax rates may be affected by
the availability of state investment tax credits.

[3] Deferred tax assets and liabilities are composed of the following:

April 30,
2008 2007
Current deferred tax assets:
Allowances and write-offs not currently deductible for accounts receivable and
doubtful accounts .. - rerereeeneersassererenereenennnnnnenees 9 1,282,000 8§ 2,656,000
Expenses not currently deductlble and tax credlts .................................................... 1,325,000 570,000
2,607,000 3,226,000
Non-current deferred tax liability:
Depreciation, amortization and unrealized gain on investments..........cc.ccevecerrnnnen. $ (630,000) $ (3,254,000)

On May 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation
of FASB Statement 109 (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This Interpretation provides that
the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in our financial statements, only if the position is more likely than not
of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position.

FASB Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”) was issued to clarify the requirements of SFAS

No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, relating to the recognition of income tax benefits. FIN 48 provides a two-step approach to
recognizing and measuring tax benefits when the benefits’ realization is uncertain. The first step is to determine whether the benefit is
to be recognized; the second step is to determine the amount to be recognized:

= Income tax benefits should be recognized when, based on the technical merits of a tax position, the company believes that
if a dispute arose with the taxing authority and were taken to a court of last resort, it is more likely than not (i.c., a
probability of greater than 50 percent) that the tax position would be sustained as filed; and

+ Ifaposition is determined to be more likely than not of being sustained, the reporting company should recognize the
largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the
taxing authority.

In connection with the adoption of FIN 48, the Company recorded a liability for uncertain tax positions related to research and
developments credits taken by the Company in the amount of $162,000.

The Company is currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service for the tax years ended April 30, 2007, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
The Company does not expect such audits to result in amounts that would cause a significant change to its effective tax rate. All tax
years prior to April 30, 2002 are closed to IRS audit.
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At April 30, 2008 the Company has New York State investment tax credits in the amount of $90,000 and $50,000 expiring April 30,
2023, and April 30, 2024, respectively. The Company also has federal research and development credits in the amount of $122,000,

$98,000 and $98,000 expiring April 30, 2027, April 30, 2028, and April 30, 2029, respectively and federal alternative minimum tax

credits in the amount of $100,000 which do not expire.

(NOTE Q) Significant Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk:

For the year ended April 30, 2008, three customers accounted for net sales of approximately 15%, 10%, and 10%, respectively. These
customers represented approximately 58% of the accounts receivable at April 30, 2008. For the year ended April 30, 2007, two
customers accounted for approximately 15% and 10% of net sales and approximately 44% of the accounts receivable at April 30,
2007.

Cash in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Company limitations is held in certain banks.

{NOTE P} Savings Plan:

The Company has a defined contribution plan that qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for the benefit of
substantially all full time eligible employees. Employees may contribute between 1% and 15% of their salary up to the dollar
maximum allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. Company contributions are voluntary and are made at the discretion of the Board
of Directors. The Company contributed $243,000, $206,000 and $176,000, for fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

{(Note Q) Quarterly Financial Results (unaudited):

Quarter
1 2 3 4 Year

Fiscal 2008

Net SAlES .oovevierrr e § 10,098,000 $§ 15874000 $ 15075000 $ 20,970,000 $ 62,017,000

Gross profit .......oecereorinecsiveenirsni e $ 2,065,000 $ 5,702,000 % 5,018,000 8,727,000 21,512,000

Net income (1088) ....cccovrvcmeircvcvvenriisnneee.. 3 (2,878,000) $ (953,000 §  (1,544,000) 277,000 (5,098,000)

Eamings (loss) per share—Basic .......... 3 (0.25) $ (008 % {0.14) § 002 % (0.45)

Earnings (loss) per share-—~Diluted 3 (0.25) § (0.08) § {0.14) § 002 % (0.45)
Fiscal 2007

Net SaleS oo $ 11,318,000 3 16,261,000 § 17985000 $ 13,334,000 § 58,898,000

GroSS PIOfit ..vveeeecese e e $ 4,157,000 $ 7,178,000 § 8,471,000 § 3,388,000 § 23,194,000

Net income (JOS8) ...ocevreevreereneerrcanrrrereeeennsees 3 (959,000) $ 409,000 % 726,000 $  (2,212,000) $  (2,036,000)

Earnings (loss) per share—Basic ..........oceu... $ (0.08) § 003 § 0.06 3 0.19) § {0.17)

Earnings (loss) per share—Diluted ..........0e0.... $ (0.08) § 003 % 0.06 $ 019 § (0.17)
Fiscal 2006

INEt SAlES ..ot $ 15427000 $ 21,619000 § 22,897000 $ 18,077,000 $ 78,020,000

Gross Profit ... e 5 8,217,000 $ 11,631,000 $ 13,507,000 § 8,832,000 § 42,187,000

NEt INCOME ..o e reiseeas 5 1,406,000 $ 3,065,000 3 4,897,000 $ 2,085,000 % 11,453,000

Earnings per share—Basic .................... $ 012 3 026 % 041 3§ 017 % 0.96

Earnings per share—Diluted b3 011 % 023 § 036 8 015 % 0.85

Earnings (loss) per common share amounts for fiscal quarters have been calculated independently and may not in the aggregate equal
the amount for the full year.

(NOTE R) Pro Forma Financial Statements:

The results of Midlothian Laboratories LLC have been included in the statements of operations since the date of acquisition.
Unaudited pro forma results of operations for the years ended April 30, 2008 and 2007 are included below. Such pro forma
information assumes that the above acquisition had occurred as of May 1, 2006, and net sales is presented in accordance with our
accounting policies. This summary is not necessarily indicative of what our result of operations would have been had these been
acquired during such periods, nor does it purport to represent results of operations for any future periods.

Year Ended Year Ended
April 30, 2008 April 30, 2007
(unaundited) (unaudited)
INEE SAES .....ocucoveiviereeeererserneniresrsssessssssssese st sbese s sbsseeas sbesE s st s b seeae st e smant st sEsaeebeseant et e sesababssmns b e et bens $ 66,602867 $§ 64,877,139
INEEBOSS ...ttt et et e st e st e st e eaeeseeeaneeseeeseaebeesbeesbesatesasesaeesaeesnsabnsabssbnarearrearreanes $ (4,240330) § (1,030,326}
Weighted average numbers of Shares Qutstanding—Basic and Diluted...............cccoecvvvveinnennne. 11,353,000 11,884,000
Earnings per share Basic and Diluted ... $ (037 % (0.09)
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{Note S) Subsequent Event (Unaudited):

On July 11, 2008, the Company sold a cough and cold product and related rights for $3.5 million, of which $1,000,000 was payable on
closing, and $2,500,000 is payable in installment payments over a period of nine months. The Company will also receive royalties on
net sales of the product through December 2010. The Company will realize a gain of $3.5 million on this transaction in the first
quarter of fiscal 2009.

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company”) on Form
S-8 (File No. 333-139796) and Form S-8 (File No. 333-126872) of our reports, dated July 11, 2008, with respect to our audits of the
financial statements of the Company as of April 30, 2008 and 2007 and for each of the years in the three-year period ended April 30,
2008, and our report dated July 11, 2008 on our audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2008,
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Eisner LLP

New York, New York
July 11, 2008
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SCHEDULE I1

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Chargesin
Beginning of costs and Balance at
Description Period expenses Deductions End of Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Year ended April 30, 2008 ........c.ocoviiiininiii e $ 350,000 % 6,000(a) $ 156,000(b) % 200,000
Year ended April 30, 2007 .....oooorviivvrirercarerercerereereerenes h 350,000 $ 69,000(2) 3 69,000(b) $ 350,000
Year ended April 30, 20006 ........cccccoverrerrervrernnvenenenenenens 5 350,000 $ 350,000
Accumulated depreciation
Year ended April 30,2008 ... § 18,405,000 2,190,000 $ 142,000{c) $ 20,453,000
Year ended April 30, 2007 ... 3 16,417,000 $ 1,988,000 $ 18,405,000
Year ended April 30,2006 ... $ 14,607,000 $ 1,957,000 § 147,000(c) $ 16,417,000

(a) Change in reserve required
(b) Direct write-off of receivable
(c) Disposition of equipment or retirements

ITEMY9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

NONE

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
Company’s filings with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQO™) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure based
on the definition of “disclosure controls and procedures” as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In designing and evaluating disclosure controls and procedures,
the Company has recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply judgment in ¢valuating its
controls and procedures.

The evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of Company management, including its CEO and CFO,
to assess the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures (as defined under the Exchange Act).
Based on that evaluation, the Company’s management, including its CEO and CFO, concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures were cffective as of April 30, 2008.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is
designed, under the supervision of the Company’s CEO and CFQ, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accardance with U.S. GAAP. The Company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of its assets; (b) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that the Company
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and
(c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of its assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent
limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP,
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The Company assessed the effectiveness of its internal ¢ontrols over financial reporting as of April 30, 2008. The Company based the
evaluation on the framework in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework™ issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSQ) and has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
April 30, 2008.

Eisner LLP, the Company’s auditor, has audited the Company’s financial statements included in this report on Form 10-K and, as part
of their audit, has issued their report, set forth at page F-3 of our financial statements, on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting, as of April 30, 2008.

Cur audit committee is comprised of three non-employee members of the board of directors, all of whom are independent from our
Company. The commitiee charter, which was attached to the Company’s proxy statement dated October 11, 2007, outlines the
members’ roles and responsibilities and is consistent with the recently enacted corporate reform laws and regulations. It is the audit
comrmittee’s responsibility to appoint an independent registered public accounting firm subject to shareholder ratification, approve
both audit and non-audit services performed by the independent registered public accounting firm, and review the reports submitted by
the firm. The audit committee meets several times during the year with management, and the independent public accounting firm to
discuss audit activities, internal controls, and financial reporting matters, including reviews of our extenally published financial
results. The independent registered public accounting firm has full and free access to the committee.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter of the year ended
April 30, 2008.

ITEM 9B.OTHER INFORMATION
NONE
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PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The board has appointed an audit committee consisting entirely of independent directors in accordance with applicable SEC and
NASDAQ rules. The members of the committee are Robert M. Holster, Dr. Yashar Hirshaut, and Anthony J. Puglisi. The board has
determined that Anthony Puglisi (chairman) is the audit cornmittee financial expert as defined in the SEC rules.

The Board of Directors consisted of seven me nnual Meeting of Shareholders and hold office
until the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders when their respective successors are duly elected and qualified.

Set forth below is the name and age of each Director, his position with the Company and his principal occupation during the past five
years and the year in which each Director was first elected as a Director of the Company.

Elected to

Name of Director Principal Occupation and other Directorships _Age _the Board
David S. Seltzer David S. Seltzer has been Chairman of the Board since September 2004 and Chief Executive 48 1992

Officer and President of the Company since May 1, 1998 and a Director, Secretary and

Treasurer since February 1992. From July 1992 to May 1, 1998 Mr. Seltzer was Executive Vice

President - Administration and since July 1992, Vice President — Administration and Chief

Operating Officer of the Company since March 1992. Mr. Seltzer received a B.A. in Economics

from Queens College in 1984, David S. Seltzer is the brother of Reuben Seltzer.

Reuben Seltzer Reuben Seltzer has been a Director of the Company since April 1992, Mr. Seltzer is currently 52 1992
serving as a consultant to the Company on legal matters and special projects. Mr. Seltzer is
Vice Chairman and Director of Neuro-HiTech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a drug development

since February 2006. Mr. Seltzer had been president of R.M. Realty Services Inc., a real estate
investment and consulting company from May 1988 to September 1992. From May 1983 to
May 1988 Mr. Seltzer was a vice president and attorney with Merrill Lynch Hubbard Inc., a real
estate investment subsidiary of Merrill Lynch and Company, Mr, Seltzer received a B.A. in
Economics from Queens College in 1978, a Juris Doctor from the Benjamin N. Cardozo School
of Law in 1981 and a L.L.M. from the New York University School of Law in 1987. Reuben
Seltzer is the brother of David Seltzer.

Martin M. Goldwyn Martin M. Goldwyn was elected a Director of the Company in May 1992, Mr. Goldwyn is a 56 1992
member in the law firm of Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Crandell P.C. Mr. Goldwyn received
a B.A. in finance from New York University in {974 and a Juris Doctor from New York Law
School in 1977,

Yashar Hirshaut, Yashar Hirshaut has been a Director of the Company since September 1992. Dr. Hirshaut is a 70 1992
M.D. practicing medical oncologist and s currently an Associate Clinical Professor of Medicine at

Cornell University Medical College. Since July 1986, he has been a Research Professor of

Biology at Yeshiva University. In addition, he has served as editor-in-chief of the Professional

Journal of Cancer Investigation since July 1981. Dr. Hirshaut received a B.A. from Yeshiva

University in 1959 and his medical degree from Albert Einstein College of Medicine in 1963,

Robert M. Holster  Robert M. Holster was elected a Director of the Company in April, 2002. Mr. Holster is Chief 61 2002
Executive Officer of HMS Holding Corp. (NASDAQ: HMSY), a company providing cost
containment services to healthcare providers and payors. From 1993 to 1998 Mr. Holster was
President and Chief Executive Officer of HHL Financial Services Inc., a healthcare accounts
receivable management company. Prior to that Mr, Holster served in a number of executive
positions, including Chief Financial Officer of Macmillan, Inc. and Controller of Pfizer
Laboratories, a division of Pfizer, Inc.
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Anthony J. Puglisi

Bruce W. Simpson

Executive Officers

Anthony J. Puglisi was elected a Director of the Company on September 21, 2005. Mr. Puglisi is Vice 59 2004
President and Chief Financial Officer of Sbarro, Inc., an owner, operator and franchisor of quick-

service restaurants, since February 2004. Prior to joining Sbarro, Mr. Puglisi was the Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer of Langer, Inc., a provider of products used to treat muscle-skeletal

disorders, from April 2002 to February 2004. Mr. Puglisi was Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer of Netrex Corporation from September 2000 to October 2001 and Executive Vice

President and Chief Financial Officer of Olsten Corporation, a provider of staffing and home health

care services from 1993 to March 2000. Mr. Puglisi has been a certified public accountant in New

York for over twenty-five years. He earned a B.B.A. in Accounting from Bernard Baruch College.

Bruce W. Simpson was elected Director of the Company on September 9, 2005, Mr. Simpson is 66 2004
President and CEO of B.W. Simpson & Associates, a consulting company that works with small
emerging pharmaceuticals companies in the areas of marketing, business development and strategic
planning. Mr. Simpson is a consultant to the Company. Prior to founding his own healthcare-
consulting firm in 1998, from July 1998 to August 1999, Mr, Simpson was President of Genpharm,
Inc., located in Ontario, Canada, a division of E. Merck. From 1992 to July 1998, he served as
President and CEO of Medeva Pharmaceuticals in Rochester, New York. He has been affiliated with
American Academy of Allergy and currently is a Director of Draxis Health Inc. and Radial
Pharmaceuticals Co. Mr, Simpson holds a B.S. in Marketing from Fairleigh Dickinson University, an
M.B.A. in Marketing from the University of Hartford, and has done post-graduate work in healthcare
marketing at UCLA. Prior to entering the pharmaceutical field, Mr. Simpson served as a Captain in
the United States Marine Corps.

The executive officers of the Company are set forth in the table below. All executive officers are elected at the annual meeting or
interim meetings of the Board of Directors. No arrangements or understanding exists between any executive officer and any other
person pursuant to which he was elected as an executive officer.

Name Age Position and Period Served

David S. Seltzer 48 Chairman of the Board since September 2004, Chief Executive Officer and President of the
Company since May 1, 1998 and a Director, Secretary and Treasurer since February 1992.
Mr. Seltzer served as Executive Vice President of Administration until February 1992.

William Peters 40  Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since May 2004,

Significant Employees

Name Age Position and Period Served

Tanya Akimova, Ph.D. 54 Director of New Business Development since October 2000.

Gary M. April 51 President of Health Care Products Division since May 1998 and Divisional Vice President of Sales
since January 1993,

Edwin A. Berrios 55 Vice President of Sales and Marketing since November 2000.

Joanne Curri 67 Director of Regulatory Affairs since January 1992.

Polireddy Dondeti, Ph.D. 43  Senior Director of Research and Development since October 2003,

Bryce Harvey 52 President, Midlothian Laboritories since December 2007.

Jesse Kirsh 49 Senior Director of Quality Assurance since March 1994,

Christopher LoSardo 42  Vice President of Corporate Development since October 2005.

Eyal Mares 45  Vice President, Operations since October 2006.

Pudpong Poolsuk 64  Senior Director of Science since May 2000.

Margaret Santorufo 42 Vice President and Controller since May 2004.

James P. Tracy 64 Vice President of Information Systems since August 2004.

27



Audit Committee

We have a separately-designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3(2)(58)(A) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The members of the Audit Committee are Robert M. Holster,

Yashar Hirshaut M.D., and Anthony J. Puglisi, and each member is independent as such term is defined under the rules promulgated
by the NASDAQ listing standards.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Board of Directors of the Company has determined that Anthony Puglisi is an audit committee financial expert as defined by
Itemn 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act and is independent within the listing standards set forth by the NASDAQ.

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee is responsible for identifying and evaluating nominees for director and for recommending to the Board a
slate of nominees for election at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in accordance with the Nominating Committee’s charter. The
Nominating Committee is comprised of Robert M. Holster, Anthony Puglisi and Bruce W. Simpson. They are non-management
directors who are “independent” as defined under the rules promulgated by the NASDAQ listing standards.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer,
controller, persons performing similar functions, as well as directors and employees. We will provide a copy of our Code of Ethics
(“Code™) to any person, without charge, upon request to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc., Attention: Investors Relations, 369 Bayview
Avenue, Amityville, NY 11701, (631) 789-8228. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code or grant any waiver, including
any implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or controller or persons performing similar functions, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website
or in a report on Form 8-K in accordance with applicable rules and regulations. A copy of the Code of Ethics was filed as an exhibit to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended April 20, 2006.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s Directors and Executive Officers and persons who own
more than ten percent of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of Common Stock and other equity securities of the Company.
Officers, Directors and greater than ten percent shareholders are required by Securities and Exchange Commission regulation to
furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. The Company believes that all Section 16(a) filing
requirements were met during Fiscal 2008. In making this statement, the Company has relied on the written representations of its
incumbent directors and officers and copies of the reports that they have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and
Nasdagq.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides a narrative describing how compensation for our named executive officers is
established and should be read in conjunction with the compensation tables and related narrative descriptions set forth below.

Objectives and Philosophy of Qur Executive Compensation Program

Our mission is to be a significant provider of quality products in the markets we serve. To support this and other strategic objectives as
approved by the Board of Directors and to provide adequate returns to sharcholders, we must compete for, attract, develop, motivate,
and retain top quality executive talent at the corporate office and operating business units during periods of both favorable and
unfavorable business conditions.

Our executive compensation program is a critical management tool in achieving this goal. “Pay for performance™ is the underlying
philosophy for our executive compensation program. Consistent with this philosophy, the program has been carefully conceived and is
independently administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which is comprised entirely of non-employee
directors.
The program is designed and administered to:

- reward individual and team achievements that contribute to the attainment of our business goals; and

+  provide a balance of total compensation opportunities, including salary, bonus, and longer-term cash and equity
incentives, that are competitive with similarly situated companies and reflective of our performance.
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In seeking to link executive pay to corporate performance, the Compensation Committee believes that the most appropriate measure of
corporate performance is the increase in long-term shareholder value, which involves improving such quantitative performance
measures as revenue, net income, cash flow, operating margins, earnings per share, and return on shareholders’ equity. The
Compensation Committee may also consider qualitative corporate and individual factors which it believes bear on increasing our long-
term value to our shareholders. These include: (i) revenue growth; (ii) increases in operating income; (iii) the attainment of specific
financial goals; (iv) the development of competitive advantages; (v) the ability to deal effectively with the growing complexity of our
businesses; (vi) success in developing business strategies and managing costs; (vii) execution of divestitures, acquisitions, and
strategic partnerships; (viii) implementation of operating efficiencies; and (ix) the general performance of individual job
responsibilities.

Components of our Executive Compensation Program
The primary elements of our executive compensation program are:
*  base salary;
« annual cash incentive bonus;
«  along-term incentive represented by stock options; and

*  insurance, 401(K) plan and other employee benefits.

The Company has not, prior to 2008, had a formal or informal policy or target for allocating compensation between long-term and
short-term compensation, between cash and non-cash compensation or among different forms of non-cash compensation. Instead, the
Compensation Committee, after reviewing information provided by management determines subjectively what it believes to be the
appropriate level and mix of the various compensation components.

Base Salary. Base salary is used to recognize the experience, skills, knowledge and responsibilities required of all our employees,
including our executives. In determining the amount of compensation to be paid to our executive officers, the Compensation
Committee adheres to compensation policies pursuant to which executive compensation is determined. Base salary determinants
include the prevailing rate of compensation for positions of like responsibility in the particular geographic area, the level of the
executive’s compensation in relation to our other executives with the same, more, or less responsibilities, and the tenure of the
individual.

Minimum base salaries are mandated by our employment agreements for Mr. David Seltzer and Mr. William Peters.

Base salaries are reviewed annually or when employment contracts expire by our Compensation Committee, and are adjusted from
time to time to realign salaries with market levels after taking into account individual responsibilities, performance and experience.

Annual Cash Incentive Bonus. The Compensation Committee has the authority to award annual bonuses to individual senior
executives in accordance with evaluation and performance criteria established each year, and based on the extent to which those
criteria were achieved. The Committee believes that the short term bonus plan promotes the Company’s performance-based
compensation philosophy by providing executives with direct financial incentives in the form of annual cash bonuses for achieving
specific performance goals. Bonus criteria are established, and bonuses ultimately awarded, in a manner intended to reward both
overall corporate performance and an individual’s participation in attaining such performance.

In August 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the cash bonus amounts to be paid to William Peters for services performed
in 2007. The bonus amount awarded to Mr. Peters for fiscal year 2007 was 15% his 2007 base salary, or $35,000. The cash bonuses
awarded was determined based on certain accomplishments during the period. The Compensation Committee did not approve a cash
bonus for Mr. Seltzer.

Stock Options. The long-term component of our executive compensation program consists of stock options. We believe that equity
grants provide our executives with a strong link to our long-term performance, create an ownership culture and help to align the
interest of our executives and our shareholders. Stock options are granted upon the recommendation of management and approval of
the Compensation Committee based upon their subjective evaluation of the appropriate amount for the level and amount of
responsibility of each executive officer. Factors entering into this process include company-level performance, the individual
executive’s performance, the amount of equity previously awarded to the executive and the vesting of such awards.

The Compensation Committee reviews all components of the executive’s compensation when determining annual equity awards to
ensure that an executive’s total compensation conforms to our overall philosophy and objectives.
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The options generally permit the option holder to buy the number of shares of the underlying Common Stock (an option exercise) at a
price equal to the market price of the Common Stock at the time of grant. Thus, the options generally gain value only to the extent the
stock price exceeds the option exercise price during the term of the option. Generally, the options vest over a period of four years, with
25% vesting upon the first anniversary of the date of grant and 25% on each anniversary thereafter, and expire no later than ten years
after grant.

Equity awards are typically granted to our executives annually in conjunction with the review of their individual performance. We set
the exercise price of all stock options to equal the closing price of our Common Stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market on the day of
the grant.

Benefits and Other Compensation. We maintain broad-based benefits that are provided to all employees, including health and dental
insurance, and a 401(k}) plan. Executive officers are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit plans, at no cost. The
Company matches 50% on the first 6% of the contributions to the 401(k) plan for all employees up to the federal maximum,

Mr. David Seltzer and Mr. William Peters received $10,400 and $6,000, respectively, for automobile reimbursements, These amounts
were reported as taxable income.

Severance and Change-in-Control Benefits. Pursuant to employment agreements we have entered into with certain of our executives
and our 1992 Stock Plan, our executives are entitled to specified benefits in the event of the termination of their employment under
specified circumstances, including termination following a change in control of our Company. We have provided more detailed
information about these benefits, along with estimates of their value under various ¢ircumstances, under the caption “Potential
Payments upon Termination of Employment or Change-in-Control” below.

We believe providing these benefits help us compete for executive talent. We believe that our severance and change-in-control
benefits are generally in line with severance packages offered to executives by other companies.

Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer

Determination of our compensation for David S. Seltzer, our Chief Executive Officer, takes into account the factors described above
as pertinent to the remainder of our executives and employees, while also taking into consideration the proprietary nature of our
business and efforts expended in connection with development of our business strategy and product development activities. The
Compensation Committee more specifically took into account Mr. Seltzer’s (i) success in growing revenues, (ii) success in improving
operating income compared to the prior year, (iii) achievement of certain specified financial and strategic targets, and (iv) success in
leading and strengthening the executive team and the operating management teams. The Compensation Committee also took into
account the amount of Mr. Seltzer’s compensation relative to chief executive officers of comparable companies.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code prohibits us from deducting any compensation in excess of $1 million paid to certain of
our executive officers, except to the extent that such compensation is paid pursuant to a shareholder approved plan upon the
attainment of specified performance objectives. The Compensation Committee believes that tax deductibility is an important factor,
but not the sole factor, to be considered in setting executive compensation policy. Accordingly, the Compensation Committee
periodically reviews the potential consequences of Section 162(m) and generally intends to take such reasonable steps as are required
to avoid the loss of a tax deduction due to Section 162(m). However, the Compensation Committee may, in its judgment, authorize
compensation payments that do not comply with the exemptions in Section 162(m) when it believes that such payments are
appropriate to attract and retain executive talent.
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Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management, Based on
this review and discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that it be included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

The Compensation Committee
Robert M. Holster

Yashar Hirshaut, M.D.

Bruce W. Simpson

Dated: July 14, 2008

The information contained in the report above shall not be deemed to be “'filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor
shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent specifically incorporated by reference therein,

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Compensation Committee of our board of directors is currently composed of Robert M. Holster (chair), Yashar M. Hirshaut,
M.D., and Bruce W. Simpson. None of the members of the Compensation Committee has ever been an officer or employee of ours.
None of our named executive officers serves or has served as a member of the Board of Directors or compensation committee of any
other company that had one or more executive officers serving as a member of our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the compensation of the Named Executive Officers for the fiscal year end April 30, 2008. The
Named Executive Officers are the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

All
Options Other
Salary Bonus Awards Compensation Total

Name and Principal Position Year (SYD $) (2 (5 )
David S. Seltzer 2008 421,000 ] 256,000 27,000 704,000
President, Chief Executive Officer, 2007 314,000 269,000 26,000 1,010,000
Secretary, and Treasurer 401,000

William Peters 2008 237,000 35,000 128,000 19,000 419,000
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2007 218,000 75,000 326,000 18,000 637,000

(1) Represents base salary through April 30, 2008.

(2) Represents the fair value of options granted on the grant date in accordance with SFAS 123(R).

{3) Represents the matching contributions to the Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Employee Savings Plan and/or the dollar value of the
premtum paid by the Company for term life insurance for the benefit of the named executive officer and automobile
reimbursement that were reported as taxable income. |

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

All Other Option Grant Date
Awards: Number Exercise or Fair Value
of Securities Base Price of of Stock
Underlying Option Awards and Options
Name Grant Date Options (#) (1) ($/Sh) (2) Awards (3)
David 8. SEIZET ..o e e seesne e snesnssasnesneses 1/29/08 50,000 10.68 256,000
President, Chief Executive Officer, ......ccoveeevvcecivevrerrnrccecenne 2/2/07 50,000 10.68 269,000
Secretary, and TTEASUIET .......c.oceveeireereererrrreee s e s s eaeeas e s nenes
WIIHAM PELETS.......coi e ssssebs s ssesbs s sssss s sasananns 1/29/08 25,000 10.68 128,000
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer .....ooovvvvevvvvvvvecvecreeireenas 22/07 25,000 10.68 134,500
8/9/06 25,000 15.09 191,500

(1)  The amounts set forth in this column reflect the number of stock options granted under our 1992 Stock Option Plan as amended. The options vest at the rate of
25% per year starting on the first anniversary of the grant and expire in 10 years from the date of grant.

(2)  The exercise price equals the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant.

{3)  The dollar values of stock options disclosed in this column are equal to the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with SFAS 123R, except no
assumptions for forfeitures were included.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiseal Year-End

Opticn Awards
Number of Nurmnber of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised
Options (#) Options (#) Option Exercise Option
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) Expiration Date
David 8. SERZET ..o s,
President, Chief Executive Officer, .....cccovvniiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiisiinn,
Secretary, and Treasurer ..o 112,500 — 5 1.64 4/1/09
112,500 — 3 1.78 6/1/10
112,500 — 3 3.84 11/15/11
112,500 — 3 11.56 1/14/13
75,000 —  § 14.99 12/4/13
56,250 18,750 § 12.05 2/1/15
25,000 25000 $ 23.98 3/8/16
12,500 37,500 % 10.68 212117
— 50,000 % 10.68 1/29/18
William Peters. ..o oo e na e eaee
Vice President and .........ccoceevievevrioninnininiesresesesseesssssseesnssasassnssaseenns
Chief Financial OffICET .....ccivieiiiieiieiis it st svesreesseesseessressesnnessnennne: 15,000 — 5 19.95 9/9/13
22,125 9375 § 10.13 8/2/14
18,750 18,750 § 18.87 8/1/15
6,250 18,750 § 15.09 8/9/16
6,250 18,750 $ 10.68 272/17
— 25,000 $ 10.68 1/29/18
Options Exercises and Stock Vested
Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Shares Number of Shares
Acquired on Value Realized on Acquired on Value Realized
Name Exercise (#) Exercise (5) Vesting (#) on Vesting ()
David S. Seltzer 112,500 852,000 0 0
President, Chief Executive Officer,
Secretary, and Treasurer
William Peters 0 0 0 0
Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

The Company does not maintain a pension plan, or nonqualified deferred contribution or other nonqualified deferred compensation
plans.

Involuntary Termination. Qur employment contracts with Mr. David Seltzer and Mr. William Peters provide for severance pay and
other payout amounts in the ¢vent that employment is terminated other than for cause or voluntary termination.

Mr. David Seltzer’s employment agreement provides that in the event of a termination of employment by the Company without cause,
the Company shall pay to Mr. Seltzer his Base Salary up to the end of the month in which such termination occurs. The employment
agreement further provides that in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will be paid his Base Salary for the remaining
term of the agreement; provided, however, that in the case of a total disability, the Base Salary paid to Mr. Seltzer shall be reduced by
any proceeds paid to Mr. Seltzer, his designee or estate, from a disability insurance policy owned by the Company. In addition, if

Mr. Seltzer is terminated by the Company without cause or in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will also be paid
an amount equal to the product of (i) the bonus for the year in which such termination, death or total disability occurred and (ii) a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months during such year which Mr. Seltzer was employed by the Company through
and including the month of his death, total disability or termination of employment, and the denominator of which is twelve.
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If Mr. William Peters is terminated, or if he terminates his employment for Good Reason, as defined in his employment agreement,
then the Company will pay to him the sum of (i) his salary for the greater of six (6) months or the balance of the term of his agreement
and (ii) the pro rata portion of his annual bonus for the prior year. The severance shall be payable weekly. In addition, the Company
will continue to keep in effect all health, insurance and welfare benefits for a period of the lesser of six months from the date of
termination or until Mr. Peters obtains similar benefits from a new employer. Mr. Peters will not be entitled to severance if the
Company gives six months advance written notice that a decision not to renew his agreement has been made by the company.

Change in Control. In the event of a change in control our employment contract with Mr. David Seltzer provides for severance pay
equal to three years of the current base salary, the bonus declared payable to him for the preceding calendar year , the continuation of
health care benefits for 24 months, the continuance of his automobile lease then in effect, but not more than 3 years, and provides
appropriate outplacement services not to exceed $15,000. The payment of the severance and bonus shall be made as soon as practible
after termination of employment, but in no event more than thirty days after termination

Our employment contract with Mr. William Peters provides in the event of a change in control for severance pay equal to 2 times the
current base salary which equals the sum of (i) his annual salary on the day preceding the change in control, (i1) the annual bonus for
the year immediately preceding the change in control. This amount will be made in a lump sum payment within 15 days after the
change in control, All insurance and welfare payments will also continue for the lesser of one year or the eligibility of similar benefits
from a new employer.

A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of the Agreement of any of the following
events:

{(a) Acquisition of Stock by Third Party. Any Person (as hereinafter defined) is or becomes the Beneficial Owner (as hereinafter
defined), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing forty (40%) percent or more of the combined voting power
of the Company’s then outstanding securities and such Person initiates actions to cause the Company to enter into a transaction or
series of transactions with such Person or a third party without the prior consent or request of the Board of Directors;

(b) Change in Board of Directors. The date when Continuing Directors cease to be a majority of the Directors then in office, it being
understood that it shall not be deemed a Change in Contro! as long as the majority of the Directors were nominated by the Continuing
Directors;

(c) Corporate Transactions. The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity, and with the power
to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or other governing body of such surviving entity; and

(d) Liguidation. The approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the
sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control

The following information and table set forth the amount of payments to each of our named executives in the event of a termination of
employment as a result of involuntary termination and termination following a change in control.

Assumptions and General Principles. The following assumptions and general principles apply with respect to the following table and
any termination of employment of a named executive:

*  The amounts shown in the table assume that each named executive was terminated on April 30, 2008. Accordingly, the
table reflects amounts earned as of April 30, 2008 and includes estimates of amounts that would be paid to the named
executive upon the occurrence of a termination or change in control. The actual amounts to be paid to a named executive
can only be determined at the time of the termination or change in control.

*  Because we have assumed an April 30, 2008 termination date, each of the named executives would have been entitled to
receive 100% of the annual bonus payment made for fiscal year 2007 that was paid in fiscal 2008. If termination would
occur in Fiscal 2008, the bonus amount would be the bonus amount that the Board determines to pay out for the year
ended April 30, 2008.

* A named executive may exercise any stock options that are exercisable prior to the date of termination and any payments
related to these stock options are not included in the table because they are not severance payments.

David William
Involuntary Termination Seltzer Peters
Prorated annual bonus COMPENSAtION. .........cciviiiieie it it st e e esets s nem e eeem et e ne e esseeees e emeeseennesseanenees $ 0 % 35,000
Cash SEVETANCE PAYIMIENIL .....cooiiiiei e c e v re e e e s srsaressserasssesrss e ensarsessarsessasrtsssarsesses 1,328,000 303,000
Continued health care Benefits And OThET .. ... e st srs b s reeseessesesntes — 12,000
TOtAL...cceeeeerereerereererrrereeneresnereesnesaessasssesesanerersnssnesrneressnereesnesnseressnerersssreessareesassressannns $ 1,328,000 $ 350,000
Change in Control with Termination
Prorated annual bonus COMPENSALON ....corvrvririnririrereriii i rereresesscsssssserasesssssssssersasasssssasssssessesnier 9 0 $§ 35000
Cash SEVETANCE PAYINIENT .....cocvierirciieceeiriesissssscrssbesessbarsessssssessessassersesssessessosbassensarsessenssentarsrases 1,246,000 485,000
Continued health care benafits and ONET .. .....coiiiiiiiii i it sss ek 1t s s abeeteebssbss it e e eaeeeieies 82,000 $ 23,000
1 SOt $ 1,328,000 $ 543,000
Employment Agreements

David S. Seltzer — Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and Treasurer

David S. Seltzer serves as Chairman of the Board since Bernard Seltzer retired the position in September, 2004. David S. Seltzer was
elected to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer effective May 1, 1998. On March 28, 2007, Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.
(the “Company”) entered into an amended and restated executive employment agreement with David S. Seltzer pursuant to which
Mr. Seltzer is to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer, effective May 1, 2007 through April 30, 2010. Mr. Seltzer received
an annual base salary of $421,375 for the period May 1, 2007 through April 30, 2008 (“Base Salary”) and for each fiscal year
thereafter during the term of the employment agreement, Mr. Seltzer will be paid a base salary equal to the sum of (a) the Base Salary
for the immediately preceding fiscal year and (b) an amount determined by multiplying the Base Salary in effect for the immediately
preceding fiscal year by five percent (5%). Mr. Seltzer may also receive a bonus during each year of employment which shall be
determined in accordance with an Executive Bonus Plan to be adopted by management and approved by the Company’s
Compensation Committee. Such Executive Bonus Plan may be based on the Company meeting certain fiscal goals and also taking into
account, among other things, progress towards strategic objectives not fully measured by pre-tax net income. Mr. Seltzer shall be
eligible to receive options to purchase a minimum amount of 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The employment
agreement provides that in the event of a termination of Mr. Seltzer’s employment by the Company without cause, the Company shall
pay to Mr. Seltzer his Base Salary up to the end of the month in which such termination of employment occurs. The employment
agreement further provides that in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will be paid his Base Salary for the remaining
term of the agreement; provided, however, that in the case of a total disability, the Base Salary paid to Mr. Seltzer shall be reduced by
any proceeds paid to Mr. Seltzer, his designee or estate, from a disability insurance policy owned by the Company. In addition, if

Mr. Seltzer is terminated by the Company without cause or in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will also be paid
an amount equal to the product of (i) the bonus for the year in which such termination, death or total disability occurred and (ii) a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months during such year which Mr. Seltzer was employed by the Company through
and including the month of his death, total disability or termination of employment, and the denominator of which is twelve. The
amended and restated employment agreement contains standard confidentiality provisions and indemnification provisions.
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William Peters — Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

The Company has an employment agreement with William Peters, its Vice President and Chief Financial Officer which expires on
July 31, 2009. On October 30, 2007 the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to Mr. Peters” employment agreement effective
July 31, 2007. The agreement automatically renews for successive one-year terms. Annual base salary through July 31, 2008 is
$242,550 and $254,668 through July 31, 2009. The agreement provides for annual bonuses to be determined in accordance with
performance goals set by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors and the President of the Company. The
Compensation Committee and the President set a target equal to or greater than 25% of Mr. Peters annual salary. The employment
agreement provides for severance payments to Mr. Peters equal to (i) the sum of his salary for the greater of 6 months or the balance
of the term of the agreement and (i) the pro rata portion of his annual bonus for the prior year of his employment in the event of
termination. In the event of a termination upon total disability, the Company will pay to Mr. Peters the salary which would otherwise
be payable to him during the continuance of such disability. Such employment agreement contains standard confidentiality provisions.
In the event of a change in control the Company will pay or cause its successor to pay to Mr. Peters in a cash lump sum an amount
equal to 2 times his annual salary on the day preceeding the Change of Control plus his annual bonus for the year immediately
preceding the Change of Control and health insurance and welfare benefits.

As described more fully below, this chart summarizes the annual cash compensation for the Company’s non-employee directors
during fiscal year 2007.

Director Compensation

Fees Earned Stock Option All Other
or Paid in Awards Awards Compensation
Name Cash (5) {$) ®)(1) 8) Total ($)
Martin M. GOlAdWYN ..ot 8,000 -0- 54,000 62,000
Yashar Hirshaut, M.D. ... 8,000 -0- 59,000 67,000
Robert M. HOIStET ...t 8,000 -0- 59,000 67,600
Anthony PUughisi ..o 8,000 -0- 54,000 62,000
Reuben Seltzer ... 8,000 -0- 54,000 254,000(2) 316,000
Bruce SIMpSon.......ooevviviviiin 8,000 -0- 59,000 67,000

(1) Represents the dollar values of stock options disclosed in this column are equal to the aggregate grant date fair value computed
in accordance with SFAS 123(R), except no assumptions for forfeitures were included. A discussion of the assumptions used in
calculating the grant date fair value is set forth in Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Represents non-employee compensation received by Mr. Reuben Seltzer for new business development and legal services.

Stock Option Plans
The Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan {the “Plan”)

The Company’s Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan provides for a total of 4,857,000 shares of Commen Stock authorized to be
granted under such Plan. During Fiscal 2008, the Company granted options to purchase 268,000 shares of Common Stock at a
weighted average exercise price of $10.68 per share. During Fiscal 2008, 43,000 options were cancelled or expired, and 557,000
shares are available for future grant under such Plan. The Company’s Plan provides for the grant of options to its key employees and
directors in order to give such employees a greater personal interest in the success of the Company and an added incentive to continue
and advance in their employment. The Company’s Plan provides for a fifteen year expiration period for non-statutory options and ten
years for incentive stock options granted thereunder and allows for the exercise of options by delivery by the optionee of previously
owned Common Stack of the Company having a fair market value equal to the option price, or by a combination of cash and Common
Stock.

The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Committee has broad discretion in
determining the recipients of options and numerous other terms and conditions of the options.

The exercise price for shares purchased upon the exercise of non-statutory options granted under the Plan is determined by the
Compensation Committee as of the date of the grant,

The exercise price of an incentive stock option must be at least equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date such
option is granted (110% of the fair market value for sharcholders who, at the time the option is granted, own more than 10% of the
total combined classes of stock of the Company or any subsidiary). No employees may be granted incentive stock options in any year
for shares having a fair market value, determined as of the date of grant, in excess of $100,000.
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No incentive option may have a term of more than ten years (in the case of incentive stock options, five years for shareholders holding
10% or more of the Common Stock of the Company). Options generally may be exercised only if the option holder remains
continuously associated with the Company or a subsidiary from the date of grant to the date of exercise. However, options may be
exercised upon termination of employment or upon the death or disability of any employee within certain specified periods.

Directors Plan

The Company’s 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan (“Directors Plan™) provides for a total of 600,000 shares of Common Stock
authorized to be granted under the Directors Plan.

The Directors Plan provides for the automatic annual grant of options to non-employee directors and is administered by the Board of
Directors. Each non-employee director will be automatically granted 11,250 shares of Commen Stock on the date of each annual
meeting of the Company’s shareholders. A non-employee director who chairs the audit or other committees of the Board of Directors
will be automatically granted annually an option to purchase an additional 1,125 shares of Common Stock.

To remain eligible, a non-employee director must continue to be a member of the Board of Directors. Each option granted is
exercisable in increments of 25% per year commencing on the first anniversary date of the date of grant. The exercise price for all
options may not be less than the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant. Options under the Directors Plan have a
term of 10 years and may be exercised for limited periods after a person ceases to serve as a director.
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Amount and

| Nature of Percent of
) Beneficial Common
Name and Address of Beneficial Qwaer i Ownershig (1) Stock
Royce & Asscciates LLC... - ! 648,830, 5.7%
1414 Avenue of the Amencas 9m ﬂoor
New York, NY 10019-2578 ..
)
i
The Estate of Bernard Seltzer 590,147 5.1%
c/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. .. @

369 Bayview Avenue ..
Amityville, New York ll70|

*  Amount represents less than 1% of Common Stock including shares issuable to such beneficial owner under options which are
presently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days.

(1)  Unless otherwise indicated, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares shown as beneficially
owned by such person.

{2) Amount includes 121,875 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008,

(3) Amount includes options to purchase 618,750 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008 and 215,252
shares of Common Stock owned by Mr, Seltzer’s wife and children and a trust for the benefit of one of his chlldren

(4) Amount inciudes options to purchase 232,875 shares of Common Stock exerclsable within 60 days of July 10, 2008 and 336,225
shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Seltzer’s wife and children.

(5) Amount includes options to purchase 59,308 shares of Common Stock exermsable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(6) Amount represents options to purchase 74,563 shares of Common Stock exerc:lsable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(7) Amount represents options to purchase 53,813 shares of Common Stock exerc:lsable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(8) Amount includes options to purchase 93,375 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(9}  Amount includes options to purchase 19,688 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(10} Amount includes options to purchase 18,351 shares of Common Stock exermsable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(11) Amount includes options to purchase 1,170,721 shares of Common Stock exerc:sable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(12) Source: 13F Form filings March 31, 2008 |

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008, Mr. Reuben Seltzer was engaged by the Company to provide new business development and
legal services. For such services, Mr. Reuben Seltzer received $254,000. Mr. Reuben'Seltzer is a director of the Company and the
brother of David Seltzer, the Company’s President.

The Company and Reuben Seltzer have a 17.7% and 17.7% interest, respectively, in lIVIarco Hi-Tech JV LLC, a New York limited
liability company (“Marco Hi-Tech”), which markets raw materials for nutraceutical products. Additionally, the Company has an
investment in an available for sale security, Neuro-Hitech, Inc. of which Reuben Seltzer is a shareholder. The Company has a 9%
interest in Neuro-Hitech, Inc. |

The Company is jointly developing a generic product outside of its arca of expertise With EMET Pharmaceuticals (“EMET”),
previously known as XCell Pharmaceuticals, and another company. Reuben Seltzer is a principal of EMET. During the fiscal year, the
Company spent approximately $1,591,000 on this project, which was included in reséarch and development expense.

The Company has adopted a policy for approval of transactions between the Company and its directors, director nominees, executive
officers, greater than 5% beneficial owners and their respective immediate family members The policy is not in writing and the
Committee has not adopted any pre-approvals under the policy. The related parties trlansact:on described above is subject to, and has

been approved and ratified, under this policy.
t

The policy provides that the Audit Committee reviews all related party transactions subject to the policy and determines whether or
not to approve or ratify those transactions. In doing so, the Audit Committee takes inlto account, among other factors it deems
appropriate, whether the transaction is on terms that are no less favorable to the Company than terms genera]ly available to an
unaffiliated third party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the related party’s interest in the transaction. A
summary of any new transactions is provided to the Board for its review in connection with each regularly scheduled Committee
meeting. |

The Company believes that material affiliated transactions between the Company and its directors, officers, principal stockholders or
any affiliates thereof have been, and will be in the future, on terms no less favorable than could be obtained from unaffiliated third

parties. |

Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Crandell P.C. received $256,000 in legal fees for services performed for the Company during the Company’s
fiscal year ended April 30, 2008. Mr. Martin M. Goldwyn, a member of such firm, is a dlrector of the Company.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The following table identifies as of July 10, 2008 each person known to the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than five
percent of the Company’s Common Stock, each director of the Company, and all directors and executive officers of the Company as a
group, and sets forth the number of shares of the outstanding Common Stock beneficially owned by each such person and such group
and the percentage of the shares of the outstanding Common Stock owned by each such person and such group. Except as noted

below, the named person has sole voting power and sole investment power over the securities.

Amonnt and
Nature of
Beneficial
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Ownership (1)

Percent of
Common
Stock

David 8. Seltzer... 2,081,132,

c/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co Inc
369 Bayview Avenue.............
AMIYVIHE, NEW YOTK 11700 ..ttt inss v e b s s g s e e ran s s om0

Reuben Seltzer...

c/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co lnc

369 Bayview Avenue ............ .
Aty VIlle, NEW YOTK TIT01 oot irssissss s anssntvans s vss s sssnbs s s s s e s s e s bbbt

1,142,740,

Martin M. GOldWyl'l U P S S PPN 59,308(1]
¢/o Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Cmndell P C
40 Cuttermill Road ... eieeteeetbeRenEenAEeREAALAT oA EnE LR R eR TR SR LRSI e SR e RS er R4 8844 SA R AR SR SR hARA b At sane e bt sas s et eans e S RaEbaare
Grcat Neck, New York ll021

Yashar Hirshaut, M.D. . eetenrreress e e be DR 444 LR R AR AL FAF AL SRA PRSP AR $208 AT § RS S SR A e b RS erA R e a s s be e e 96,5635
¢/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co Inc .
369 Bayview Avenue ...........
Amityville, New YOTK L1700 i iams st ans et ees s st e s 0 b R R AR s e

Robert M. Holster... e ebetaebesr TR AR R e E 8 HeE S e e R e e e R e remse A€ s e s et AL AT AL SRR b A s 53,813
¢/o Hi-Tech Phannacal Co lnc -
369 Bayview Avenue ... .
Amityville, New York l lTOl

William Peters .. . ettt st e e e st bbb st naten 93,3754,
¢/o Hi-Tech Phn.nnacal Co lnc “
369 Bayview Avenue ...
Amityville, New York 1|701

Anthony J. Puglisi ... 19,688,
c/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co lnc -
369 Bayview Avenue.............
Amityville, New YOrk 1HTOL ..ottt stsaen bt ssss s ssn s

Bruce W. Simpson............. 18,3500
¢fo Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co Tnc..
369 Bayview Avenue ...co.eee
Aty ville, NEW YOTK 117010 oottt est s sa st essrasssents s st ass e s ma e b sh £ i b sE st a1 b Aas aEb b emb s sara et e

All Directors and Executive Officers 85 a group (8 PEISOMS) ..o eiriorsmcsisesisensiessssssantscstseserasesarssasessassanss st snss sossessiasrenssssassensssasasas 3,564,9700),

Columbia Management AQVISOS, INC. ... it b0 11 a1 7 76 7817008 11 e e 2 st om bt s et s s 1,053,1951y
100 Federal Street 21th Floor...
BoSton, MA D2110-1808... ittt e ea b s es b bt bbb R s A o8 oS82 e84 e neRs st e bbb s e e b n e e s

Dimensional Fund AAVISOTS INC... ..ot s ans s v s a4 4 yers s st s bemasanssebsasssnessessasassnasass 806,036z
1299 Ocean Avenue 11™ Floor.
Santa Monica, CA G001 ...t s s s rs s e s e s emessms sasssesssisssasasass base s ebs seetamses soms s emes dmdbbash ek e e b abb s

Accipter Capital Management LLC ... ..o s s sarsssssasses v o sass e 6 e 8 104 bAS bS8 4b LR R B bt sent s s 723,63%
399 Park Avenue 38® Floor ..
New York, NY 10022- 8113

420 Boylston St. ....covveee.
BOSION, VLA D21 16 ......o1ereeeeeccrrerrrceersrnsrreeseenysres senesassssns e s sensssnssens sme eataanssass senetansssnessmnsesss oessemns besd dome be BARE L bR R AR A S e MRS Bab e b T sas R ra Rt 10
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17.3%

9.8%

28.4%

9.2%

7.1%

6.3%

6.2%




Amount and

Nature of Percent of
Beneficizal Common
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Ownership (1) Stock
Royce & Associates LLC... e teaeteeeesend AR LA 1A b D 44440458 e £t e e eSS o i e £t e e et o 648,8304z 5.7%
N L O
New York, NY 10019-2578...
The Estate of BemMard SelIZEr. ... ..o ieiieiiiiiiii i iesse e mssscrensrinsrs e sasesasssssereseresaresesssesssssssasssasossssssnss hassessaraetoser et essensssnsnans 590,147 5.1%

¢/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. ....
369 Bayview Avenue ..................
Amityville, New York 11701 ...

4]

i
i
J
1
I
1
!
|
I
'

* Amount represents less than 1% of Common Stock including shares issuable to such beneficial owner under options which are
presently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days, |

(1)  Unless otherwise indicated, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares shown as beneficially
owned by such person. [

(2)  Amount includes 121,875 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(3) Amount includes options to purchase 618,750 shares of Common Stock exercxsablc within 60 days of July 10, 2008 and 215,252
shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Seltzer’s wife and children and a trust for the benefit of one of his children.

(4)  Amount includes options to purchase 232,875 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008 and 336,225
shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Seltzer’s wife and children. |

(5) Amount includes options to purchase 59,308 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(6) Amount represents options to purchase 74,563 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(7) Amount represents options to purchase 53,813 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(8) Amount includes options to purchase 93,375 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(9)  Amount includes options to purchase 19,688 shares of Common Stock exer(:lsable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(10) Amount includes options to purchase 18,351 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(11) Amount includes options to purchase 1,170,721 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2008.

(12) Source: 13F Form filings March 31, 2008 ’

|
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008, Mr. Reuben Seltzer was engaged by the Cpmpany to provide new business development and
legal services. For such services, Mr. Reuben Seltzer received $254,000. Mr. Reuben Seitzer is a director of the Company and the

brother of David Seltzer, the Company’s President. :

The Company and Reuben Seltzer have a 17.7% and 17.7% interest, respectively, i m Marco Hi-Tech JV LLC, a New York limited
liability company (“Marco Hi-Tech”™), which markets raw materials for nutraceutlcal products. Additionally, the Company has an
investment in an available for sale security, Neuro-Hitech, Inc. of which Reuben Seltzer is a shareholder. The Company has a 9%
interest in Neuro-Hitech, inc. |

The Company is jointly developing a generic product outside of its area of expertisl: with EMET Pharmaceuticals (“EMET™),
previously known as XCell Pharmaceuticals, and another company. Reuben Seltzer is a principal of EMET. During the fiscal year, the
Company spent approximately $1,591,000 on this project, which was included in résearch and development expense.

4
The Company has adopted a policy for approval of transactions between the Company and its directors, director nominees, executive
officers, greater than 5% beneficial owners and their respective immediate family members. The policy is not in writing and the
Committee has not adopted any pre-approvals under the policy. The related parties|transaction described above is subject to, and has
been approved and ratified, under this policy. ‘

The policy provides that the Audit Committee reviews all related party traulsacticmsI subject to the policy and determines whether or
not to approve or ratify those transactions. In doing so, the Audit Committee takes into account, among other factors it deems
appropriate, whether the transaction is on terms that are no less favorable to the Co'mpany than terms generally available to an
unaffiliated third party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the related party’s interest in the transaction, A
summary of any new transactions is provided to the Board for its review in connection with each regularly scheduled Committee

meeting. I
!

The Company believes that material affiliated transactions between the Company and its directors, officers, principal stockholders or
any affiliates thereof have been, and will be in the future, on terms no less favorable than could be obtained from unaffiliated third
parties. |

|
Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Crandell P.C. received $256,000 in legal fees for services performed for the Company during the Company’s
fiscal year ended April 30, 2008, Mr. Martin M. Goldwyn, a member of such firm, is a|director of the Company.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Audit Fees

Eisner LLP has served as the auditors for the Company for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008. Eisner LLP has billed or is expected to bill
us $370,000 and $345,000, in the aggregate, for professional services for the audit of our annual financial statements and audit of the
Company’s internal controls in compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively, and for the review of
our interim financial statements which are included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for fiscal 2008.

Audit Related Fees

Eisner LLP has billed or is expected to bill us $55,000 and $21,000 for other audit-related fees for fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively. Other
audit-related fees related primarily to services rendered in connection with our filing of registration statements with the SEC and due
diligence in connection with potential acquisitions and accounting consultations.

Tax Fees

Eisner LLP has billed or is expected to bill us $56,000 and $36,000 for fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively, for tax services including tax
compliance.

All Other Fees

The Company did not engage Eisner LLP for professional services other than those services captioned “Audit Fees”, “Audit Related Fees™,
“Tax Fees” and “Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees™ in fiscal 2008

All non-audit services were reviewed with the Audit Committee, which concluded that the provision of such services by Eisner LLP was
compatible with the maintenance of that firm's independence in the conduct of its auditing function.

Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees

Eisner LLP did not provide and did not bill nor was paid any fees for financial information systems design and implementation services in
fiscal 2008 and 2007 as described in paragraph (c){4)(ii) of Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X.

Policy on Audit Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditor

Consistent with SEC policies regarding auditor independence, the Audit Committee has responsibility for appointing, setting compensation
and overseeing the work of the independent auditor. In recognition of this responsibility, the Audit Committee has established a policy to pre-
approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent auditor.

Prior to engagement of the independent auditor for the next year’s audit, management will submit a list of services and related fees expected
to be rendered during that year within each of four categories of services to the Audit Committee for approval.

1. Audit services include audit and review work performed on the financial statements, as well as work that generally only the
independent auditor can reasonably be expected to provide, including comfort letters, statutory audits, and discussions surrounding the proper
application of financial accounting and/or reporting standards.

3. Audit-Related services are for assurance and related services that are traditionally performed by the independent auditor, including
due diligence related to mergers and acquisitions, employee benefit plan audits, and special procedures required to meet certain regulatory
requirements.

3. Tux services include all services, except those services specifically related to the audit of the financial statements, performed by the
independent auditor’s tax personnel, including tax analysis; assisting with coordination of execution of tax related activities, primarily in the
area of corporate development; supporting other tax related regulatory requirements; and tax compliance and reporting.

4. Other Fees are those associated with services not captured in the other categories. The Company generally does not request such
services from the independent auditor,

Prior to engagement, the Audit Committee pre-approves independent auditor services within each category. The fees are budgeted and the
Audit Committee requires the independent auditor and management to report actual fees versus the budget periodically throughout the year
by category of service. During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the independent auditor for
additional services not contemplated in the original pre-approval categories. In those instances, the Audit Commitice requires specific pre-
approval before engaging the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members. The member to whom such autharity is delegated
must report, for informational purposes only, any pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.
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ITEM 15,

i
EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

(a) (I) Financial Statements filed as part of this Report are listed in Item 8 of this :Report.

{(2) No other financial schedules have been included because they are not applicable, not required or because required

information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(n) Exhibit Page Number
Number  Description of Docutment | Foot-Notes
3.} Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation : n
3.2 Restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws : *(2)
4.3  Copy of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Stock Option Plan | 3)
4.4 Copy of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Stock Option Agreement 4)
4.5 Copy of 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan ! &)
10.1 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement with David S. IScltzer (6)
10.2  Amendment No. | to Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement of David Seltzer Y]
103 Employment Agreement of William Peters ! 8)
10.4  Amendment No.1 to Employment Agreement of William Peters | 9
10.5 Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated October 23, 2002. Corlﬁdential Treatment was granted
for portions of this Agreement, I| (10)
10.6 First Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated November 1, 2002. Confidential
Treatment has been requested for portions of this agreement. | (11)
10.7 Second Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated November 15, 2002.
Confidential Treatment was granted for portions of this agreement. | (12)
10.8  Third Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement date:d October 21, 2005. (13)
*10.9 Fourth Amendment and waiver to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreer:nem executed April 22, 2008.
14.1  Code of Ethics ; (14)
*23.1 Consent of Eisner LLP L
*31.1 Cenification pursuant to Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange!Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |
*31.2 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 of the Securities Exchanquct of 1934, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursua'nt to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. !

* Filed herewith

(1) Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference. l

(2) Filed as Exhibit 3.0 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 31,
1994 and incorporated herein by reference. ]

(3) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-47860) and incorporated
herein by reference.

(4) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Registration Statement on Form 8-1 (No. 33-47860) and incorporated
herein by reference.

(5) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form IIO -Q for the quarterly period ended October 31,
1994 and incorporated herein by reference. |

(6) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference. |

(7) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference. |

I
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(8)  Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended July 31, 2005
and incorporated herein by reference.

(9) Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 30, 2007, filed on October 5,
2007 and incorporated herein by reference.

(10) Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended October 31,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

(11) Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended October 31,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

(12) Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended October 31,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

{13) Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for quarterty pericd ended April 30, 2008
and incorporated herein by reference.

(14) Filled as Exhibit 14.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended April 30, 2008 and
incorporated herein by reference.
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|
SIGNATURES !

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

|
Dated: July 14, 2008 HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC. By:
. : |

py/5/ David . Seltzer,

David S. Seltzer, Chief Executive Officer, President, Secretary &
Treasurer

)
By./s/ William Peters '

William Peters Chief Financial Officer
|
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ David S. Seltzer - July 14, 2008

David 8. Seltzer, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer,
President, Treasurer, Secretary )

/s/ Reuben Seltzer ' July 14, 2008

Reuben Seltzer, Director |

/s/ Martin M. Goldwyn ‘ July 14, 2008
Martin M. Goldwyn, Director

/s/ Yashar Hirshaut, M.D.
Yashar Hirshaut, M.D., Director

July 14, 2008

/s/ Robert M. Holster
Robert M. Holster, Director

July 14, 2008

/s/ Anthony J. Puglisi
Anthony J. Puglisi, Director

July 14, 2008

/s/ Bruce W. Simpson July 14, 2008

Bruce W. Simpson, Director
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company™) on Form
S-8 (File No. 333-139796) and Form S-8 (File No. 333-126872) of our reports, dated July 11, 2008, with respect to our audits of the
financial statements of the Company as of April 30, 2008 and 2007 and for each of the years in the three-year period ended April 30,
2008, and our report dated July 11, 2008 on our audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2008,
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Eisner LLP

New York, New York
July 11, 2008
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| EXHIBIT 31.1

|
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OR 15D-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
|

1, David S, Seltzer, certify that: :

1.
2.

Dated: July 14, 2008

By:/s/ David S. Seltzer

David S. Seltzer
Chief Executive Officer

|
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

!
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report; ;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in ail
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report; |
The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

[

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such dlsclosure contrels and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the reglstrant mcludmg its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

. . . | . .

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

[
d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has

materiaily affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registra';nt’s internal control over financial reporting;
and l

The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our mosl:recent evaluation of internal control ever

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions): l

a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and '

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. '




EXHIBIT 31.2

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OR 15D-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, WILLIAM PETERS, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

| 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
| (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting,.

Dated: July 14, 2008

By:/s/ William Peters

William Peters
Chief Financial Officer




| EXHIBIT 32.1
|
HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO,, INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U. 8. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION %06 OF
THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2q02

|
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officers
of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company™), hereby certify to such officers’ kn()wledge that the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2008 (the “Report™) fully complies with thelrequxrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as
applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. |

Dated: July 14, 2008

/s/ David Seltzer

David Seltzer,
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ William Peters

W11‘ﬁam Peters, -
Chlef Fmanc1al Ofﬁcer

o
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_._..:I;ms:cemﬁcatlon is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec‘uon 906 of the Sarbanes-
I
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